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Description


The memoirs of former Opposition leader Tony Leon provide a unique glimpse into the political life of South Africa in the democratic era. In incisive, finely focused prose, On the Contrary records Leon’s thirteen-year leadership of the Democratic Alliance (DA) and its predecessor, the Democratic Party (DP), years in which the party grew from its marginal position on the brink of political extinction into the second largest political force in South Africa. This is an adventure in ideas that involves vivid real people – friends, colleagues and enemies alike. There is new light shed on many of the figures who have shaped modern South Africa, including Nelson Mandela, FW de Klerk and Thabo Mbeki. A trained lawyer, Tony Leon entered Parliament at age 32 at the dawn of South Africa’s period of revolution and reform. He actively participated in the constitutional negotiations that led to the birth of the democratic South Africa.

















Epigraph


History is written backward but lived forward.


Those who know the end of the story can never know what it was like at the time.


CV WEDGWOOD
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Dedication


To the men and women of the Democratic Alliance of South Africa; they willingly and loyally stood alongside me and sustained me in all the battles and campaigns described in this book. They kept faith with our cause. They have never been, in the glorious words of Theodore Roosevelt, ‘in the ranks of those cold and timid souls who have known neither victory nor defeat.’


This book is dedicated, with my deepest gratitude, to their endeavours for a better South Africa.


Of all the campaigns I fought, the most important was winning the heart of my wife, Michal. She has transformed my life. And this book is dedicated, with my boundless respect and profound love, to her as well.














Introduction and Acknowledgments


INTRODUCTION AND ACKNOWLEDGMENTS


On Golden Notebooks


Writing a book is an adventure. To begin with it is a toy and an amusement; then it becomes a mistress, and then a master, and then a tyrant. The last phase is that just as you are about to be reconciled to your servitude, you kill the monster, and fling him out to the public.


WINSTON CHURCHILL


In October 2007 it was announced from Stockholm that Doris Lessing had won the Nobel Prize for Literature. Other than the fact that we both grew up in southern Africa (she in Rhodesia) and shared a detestation for the tyrant’s heel then choking Zimbabwe, we have little in common. I hardly make any claim to her literary fluency, and do not share her political Zeitgeist.


We also emerged from different ages and from vastly disparate circumstances. However, while I was at university I enjoyed reading her grim frontier tale of coming-of-age and a loveless marriage in The Grass is Singing. But it was, according to the New York Times, her critical masterpiece, The Golden Notebook, that was emblematic of her œuvre. In the book Anna, the heroine, divided her experiences into four notebooks, black, red, yellow and blue: each dealing with different aspects of her life.


According to Michiko Kakutani, the literary critic, Lessing suggested that out of these disparate pieces ‘come something new and transformative, a fifth, golden notebook, where things have come together, the divisions have broken down, and there is a promise of unity.’1


On the Contrary, a title which came to me as I pondered why it was that I had spent all my political life in opposition, is, as it were, my own golden notebook: a pulling together of my personal threads, background experiences, political impulses, and my rather definite views on South Africa and the wider world it shares, after my 22 years in public life. As readers will glean should they press on beyond this introduction, I have tried to sketch a voyage from my Durban boyhood through my moulding in the institutions of an English boarding school in KwaZulu-Natal and the South African military, into my shock therapy of radical politics at the University of Witwatersrand.


The narrative then concentrates on a far more political theme: from the deepest pit of hand-to-hand political warfare in Johannesburg and inside my own party, to the ascent of loftier planes as South Africa scaled the heights of negotiation politics. Much of it is about my assumption, as paradoxically both a battle-scarred and somewhat unready 37-year-old, to take up the reins of my party’s leadership.


For over half my life, I lived under the system of apartheid, entrenched and institutionalised in every stage and every facet of everyday life in South Africa. I witnessed some of its cruelties and absurdities from a privileged place in the country’s then prevailing ethnic hierarchy.


Yet, as both this book and any reading of an objective history of South Africa will attest, there was always a group of white South Africans who opposed the system of racial supremacy and the tyranny of its oppression, and held fast for a more just and humane political and economic order. Of the many blessings my parents bestowed on me, inculcating this different view of the prevailing racial order at the time of my birth was, in many ways, the most significant.


Every white person had a choice in how to respond to apartheid. Most supported it – but a minority did not. It could be said that every black person, by definition, was the object of a pattern of discrimination as pervasive as it was unfair. But equally, not every black person, or group, responded in like fashion. Some took up arms, some were imprisoned and brutalised, some were executed, and some went into exile.


But some others actively collaborated with, and profited from, the apartheid order. It was a brutal, yet complex, system and the responses to it, in all communities, were by no means uniform.


Indeed, while it is unarguable that the ANC government that today governs South Africa was the primary liberator or resistance movement pitted against the National Party in its fastness, it was by no means the only one. And, at various stages of the struggle, it appeared to be more surprised by, rather than master of, the revolutionary events which swept across South Africa and which I either witnessed or participated in. Given the dull patina of political correctness which for many years of my later political career had settled heavily upon South Africa, it might surprise some to learn that key events in the calendar which are celebrated today as milestones of liberation came from quarters either largely forgotten or conveniently omitted from official memory.


For example, the 1960 Sharpeville massacre was a police response to a Pan-Africanist Congress protest against the pass laws. The 16 June 1976 Soweto riots were a student uprising triggered by the Black Consciousness-inspired Soweto Students’ Council. Its leader, Tsietsi Mashinini, died a lonely exile in Guinea – completely outside the circle of ANC insiders; and today languishes as a forgotten, barely mentioned, footnote in the current history of our times.


Then again, while the ANC was a decisive voice abroad in attempting to ratchet up the pressure against – and increase the isolation of – apartheid Pretoria, it was arguably the machinations of a New York banker that did more to bring down South Africa’s financial house of cards than any number of speeches at the United Nations. In 1985, for example, the appositely named Willard C Butcher, head of Chase Manhattan Bank, pulled the plug on South Africa’s dangerously exposed loan position. It was probably this action more than the more modest military accomplishments of Umkhonto we Sizwe that pushed the National Party to the brink of the abyss.


And again, staring into that deep and dangerous pit a few years later it was a ‘murg-en-been’ Afrikaner Nationalist leader, FW de Klerk, who turned his back on it and marched his forces and his people in a different and unprecedented direction. His extraordinary act of political apostasy, no less than the moral compass of Nelson Mandela, guided South Africa’s often dangerous transition, whose outcome at the time was never as assured as it now appears to have been.


Their courage and flexibility cannot be overestimated.


I mention these facts, and elaborate on others in this book, not to negate the role of black suffering and oppression, nor to minimise the centrality of the majority’s chosen leadership, the African National Congress. However, it is important to mention that neither our history nor our future can be crudely reduced into a single narrative comprising permanent heroes and implacable villains. South Africa’s history and future were, and are, far more subtle and contradictory than that.


Almost immediately on my election to the leadership of the party in 1994, and for the 13 interesting, and often hair-raising, years that followed, I found myself embroiled in many battles. One was against those who were determined either to denigrate the liberal contribution to change in South Africa as either resistant to it in the past, or complicit with frustrating its attainment in the future. At one level this was simply anti-intellectual, ahistoric, jejune political posturing – an attempt to cut out debate or to question the credentials of an opponent by using, in Robert Conquest’s useful phrase, ‘thought-blockers’. At another level, it was of a piece with the determination of the cadres of the ‘national democratic revolution’ (as the ANC – oddly, I have always thought, for a modern party participating in a constitutional democracy – chose to style its movement) to divide South Africa, and its people and polity, into a Manichean universe where you were either ‘for us’ or ‘against the will of the people’. This book is, in part, an attempt, entirely from my perspective and ringside seat, to fill in the missing blanks of so much of our current history.


There are, however, some who claim to tend the uncertain flame which flickers around the liberal camp of South African politics who would doubt my credentials for this task, and have certainly questioned my fealty to its first principles. In their cases the fire against me could not be characterised as ‘friendly’. But while often irritated by my critics, I have never been too concerned with labels in politics. I share the judgment of my friend and colleague Robin Carlisle that ‘liberalism in South Africa would have died of malnutrition’ had the Democratic Party and later the Alliance not pursued the course I helped steer it by. But I hope that I also have (as Helen Suzman affirmed in the foreword to my previous book Hope and Fear in 1998) ‘stood foursquare in the liberal tradition’. That tradition includes the advancement of constitutionalism, the rule of law, social justice, free markets, and the rights and obligations of personal freedom. It is by no means a closed list, but I reckon these to be its essentials.


‘Liberalism’ is a much contested term, both in South Africa and abroad. It has application to a wide range of political positions, from the libertarianism of laissez faire economics to the democratic egalitarianism of the welfare state. One of the continuous battles in South Africa, during apartheid and afterwards, has been the encroachment of state into the life and activities of the citizen, and vice versa.


Thomas Nagel, professor at New York University, concluded: ‘[All] liberal theories have this in common: they hold that the sovereign power of the state over the individual is bounded by a requirement that individuals remain inviolable in certain respects, and that they must be treated equally.’2 This fight of ideas is by no means over, and while the state might have changed hands, the hegemonic impulses of government have not. But as readers will gather, I always felt that leadership, and the liberal cause it was elected to serve, was required to be adaptive to the often stony conditions of the South African soil. The reader is invited to judge how successful or futile this adaptation has been. But events dictated that if we had stood still on the tiny patch of political earth bequeathed to me in 1994 it could well have disappeared from under our feet entirely.


So although I have at various stages of my career been either close to or distant from some of the more famous proponents of the liberal orthodoxy in South Africa, for example, Colin Eglin, Zach de Beer and Helen Suzman, let me pay unreserved tribute to their pioneering efforts.


When, in 2003, Jonathan Ball suggested that I consider writing my political biography we both agreed that it should be as honest and forthright and lively as possible. My mandate was not to provide a complete, or even partial, history of the five decades of my journey as a South African. In any event the difficulty and frustrations which were attendant upon writing this book convinced me that simply a polite or politically correct – I am probably congenitally not predisposed to either condition – recitation of facts, speeches and anecdotes was hardly worth the effort.


I have also included in this work criticisms levelled against me – from the politically trenchant to the personally vicious. Perhaps I can be, therefore, forgiven for mentioning the generous encomium recently written to me by one of my student assistants (or ‘liaisons’ as they are perhaps misleadingly named) at Harvard University. Kenzie Bok wrote: ‘You are an example I will not soon forget – of a leader who takes his ideas seriously, but not himself.’ I sincerely hope her remark finds reflection on these pages: South Africa has been involved in – and remains challenged by – some life-and-death issues. But I have never believed that their contemplation or resolution requires its politicians to lose their humour or have an over-inflated sense of their personal importance.


I have attempted to describe, hopefully with not too heavy a touch, the key events of my own life and provide an insider’s view of what happened, when it did, and for what reason. There will be, no doubt, many alternative or flatly contradictory views of the more controversial personalities and areas covered by this work. In a pluralistic society and in a functioning and contested democracy, disputations should be welcomed, not shunned. I believe that one of South Africa’s chief weaknesses since the onset of formal democracy in 1994, and one of the contributory causes of the mistakes in governance which have occurred since then, has been an increasing and intolerant tendency by the country’s majority leadership: its self-belief that it is in sole possession of the truth.


As a signed-up member of the Isaiah Berlin fan club I can only commend his words written in a letter over twenty-five years ago: ‘It is a terrible and dangerous arrogance to believe that you alone are right, and have a magical eye which sees the truth, and that others cannot be right if they disagree.’


In this task I have relied on memory, research notes, contemporaneous diary entries, and the various works and articles cited. On many occasions I made a note after an important meeting or event. Also, as a politician who enjoys not only talking (most do) but also writing (which in my view not enough politicians do), I have been aided by the many op-eds and journal and newspaper articles which I penned. Since 2003 I have written a weekly political column on the Internet. This has also been an invaluable tool in my research. My researchers and I have attempted to authenticate every media cutting with a date and reference. This has not proved possible in every case, although each comment cited was noted at the time of its utterance.


I have been hugely assisted in writing this book by the prodigious research efforts of several people: primus inter pares is Joel B Pollak, my speech-writer and confidant for a critical four-year period of my leadership. I owe him a special debt, specifically for his considerable assistance in drafting elements of some key chapters. They were all of a piece with the many speeches and articles that he wrote for me: rigorous, articulate and opinionated. In 2006 Joel left my office to pursue his studies at the Harvard Law School. His successor, Dr Guy Willoughby, has also provided me with thoughtful insights and well-honed prose. Gareth van Onselen, another friend and colleague, head of the DA Research and Media Department, gave me specific inputs and suggestions for the final chapter, ‘Future Imperfect’. His capacity for research is matched only by his unflinching commitment to our political project, which he has done so much to sustain.


My publishers engaged senior DA researcher Julia Frielinghaus to undertake further research and fact-checking. She tackled this task with her customary brio and thoroughness. The noted political journalist Jan-Jan Joubert, aided by his encyclopaedic political memory and general knowledge, painstakingly read this manuscript and corrected many of its errors. Those that remain are, irritatingly, my own.


The book itself was written over a three-year period. Fits of zealous application were interrupted by long periods away from it owing to political and leadership pressures, or by the perils occasioned by either demoralisation with the project or the work-avoiding demons to which I am subject, and which Michal did her best to keep at bay. Through it all, however, I was sustained by the bonhomie, the belief in its merits and the positive energy radiated by my publisher, Jonathan Ball. We share a similar worldview, and I found his support and encouragement quite infectious.


Less voluble, but equally committed to this project and its perceived merits, was my dedicated editor, the journalist and writer Peter Wilhelm. He laboured mightily and uncomplainingly to knock my prose into shape and systematise the chapters and the ideas which comprise this book. He too is a fellow-believer in the kind of South Africa which we set out to achieve but which we have not yet fully sighted.


At a later stage in the writing process, Jeremy Boraine was appointed publishing director at Jonathan Ball. I was a happy recipient of both his efficiency and his charm. My boundless thanks as well to Owen Hendry for final editing, and Francine Blum for production.


A lifelong friend, Shirley Eskapa, herself a noted writer, provided encouragement and invaluable advice throughout this project.


While I wrote this book in the midst of a media revolution, characterised by MySpace pages, Facebook online friends, YouTube videos and the like, it was actually written in what my technophile stepson Etai would perhaps scornfully describe as ‘an old, if not antique, bubble’. Like a pre-Gutenberg monk I wrote most of the text long-hand. It then fell, as ever, to my full-time secretary and part-time soul mate, Sandy Slack, to transcribe them onto disc and often redo the same chapter half-a-dozen times until it was ready for editing. It would be a stretch to say she did it all uncomplainingly. But she undertook the task with the exemplary dedication, deep affection, singular loyalty and occasional irritations which have been the mutual basis of our working and personal relationship for nearly a decade-and-a-half.


My staunch colleagues and dear friends, Ryan Coetzee, James Selfe, Douglas Gibson and Mike Ellis, were kind enough to read portions of the draft text and furnish their comment and suggestions, some of which I have included. Two other friends and colleagues, Sandra and Andries Botha, lent me their magnificent Plettenberg Bay beach house immediately after I stood down as party leader in May 2007. Its impressive and tranquil surrounds inspired me to write a chapter-and-a-half in just one week.


Appropriately much of this book was drafted in Cape Town and in Johannesburg and on airplanes and in hotel rooms on and off the various campaign trails I have journeyed along. Perhaps, however, it was my greatest fortune to receive a fellowship at the Institute of Politics, Kennedy School of Government, at Harvard University for a four-month period from September to December 2007. If it is possible to have a formative experience at the age of 50, then this was it.


At Harvard, I interacted with super-bright and positive, yet respectful, students. I was exposed to the extraordinary intellectual giants who comprise much of the faculty. I met with a range of visiting political leaders and policy-makers at the top of their game. It was both exhilarating and refreshing. When I arrived one of the IOP staff described the Institute in which I enjoyed my fellowship as the political equivalent of the Betty Ford Clinic for recovering politicians. ‘You come here to detox,’ he said. Given the mephitic nature of some of the political waters in which I have swum, my experience at Harvard was indeed restorative. What impressed me most about the Institute of Politics was its Kennedyesque belief that its fellows and students should seek to share a view that ‘politics matters’: that it is a noble profession worthy not merely of the best minds of our time but of individuals possessing exceptional character and a tremendous commitment to the common good.


This indeed sets the bar very high; but in South Africa, no less than in America and the rest of the world, we should aim no lower. In addition to the goodwill of Congressman Jim Leach, the acting IOP director, and the fellows’ co-ordinator, Eric Andersen, I was hugely inspired and sustained by the other fellows. They were drawn from the upper ranks of American politics, public policy-making and journalism. We soon became kindred spirits and good friends. My warm appreciation goes to Dr Meghan O’Sullivan, Mayor Bill Purcell, Noelia Rodriguez, Maralee Schwartz and Congressman E Clay Shaw Jr.


It was, in fact, Meghan, who arrived to join us directly from her time in the White House as Special Assistant to President George W Bush on Afghanistan and Iraq, who expressed in her crisp and articulate way the environment in which often hugely consequential decisions are made: ‘The essence of being a policy-maker is making decisions with real consequences with imperfect information and with too little time.’ While the decisions made in the White House were of greater reach than any to emerge from the parliamentary office of South Africa’s opposition leadership, this volume is my own personal testimony to the accuracy of those words.


My time at Harvard also afforded me the chance to learn first-hand from some of the frontline experts on the South African economy. Its Center for International Development has been retained by South Africa’s National Treasury to advise it on our growth rate. Interacting with professors Ricardo Hausmann, Robert Lawrence and Matthew Andrews, and reading the papers prepared by the international panel, helped refine my own thinking on the complex topic of South Africa’s political economy and its growth diagnostics. Professors Niall Ferguson and Samantha Power also provided me with remarkable, and fresh, historical insights.


It was during my Harvard sojourn that the witty and candid memoirs of one of its most distinguished alumni, the historian and Kennedy confidant, Arthur M Schlesinger Jr, were published posthumously.3 Gossip is the universal staple of politicians and academics alike, and Schlesinger did not disappoint on this score. I read his prose suitably enthralled. However, deep in his diaries I stumbled upon an uncomfortable definition which he termed ‘Prichard’s Law’, which he described as: ‘Absence of power corrupts, and total absence of power corrupts absolutely.’ This was a light-bulb moment. In a far less elegant but personally directed jibe, a semi-local detractor of lesser eminence had once accused me of ‘having run nothing more important than my mouth’. Were my years in politics proof of the salience of Prichard’s Law? I certainly hope not.


Some, a distinct minority I suspect, of politicians – locally and overseas – are perfectly content to spend their political lives in opposition. Indeed, it is often easier to critique administration, without the burden of implementation or the frustrations imposed by government. While I never entered public life to achieve executive office, I certainly would have relished the opportunity of converting principles and policies into laws and governance. I would, also, doubtless, have enjoyed some of the appurtenances of power. But I have observed, often with a queasy dismay, how the baubles and status of office have so easily and quickly corroded – and overwhelmed – even the most independent and seemingly incorruptible of men and women. Yesterday’s struggle icons and human rights activists in South Africa have often become, in office, today’s insensitive and unaccountable mandarins and overlords – abusing means and confusing them with ends.


But while the challenges (and temptations) of direct power have eluded me (or in the case of Nelson Mandela’s offer of a seat in his cabinet, have been declined), the opposition benches proved not to be a permanent relegation to the sidelines of influence. I entered parliament at the precise moment of South Africa’s interregnum, which Gramsci defined as the political twilight between the dying of the old epoch and the uneasy birth of the new. During this exciting, unpredictable and often dangerous phase of upheaval a unique moment presented itself for those in the political minority, even bit players, to help shape (and, in my case, even draft) certain outcomes – constitutionally and legislatively. I certainly seized some of those opportunities.


One of the most contested issues during South Africa’s political transition, as I record in the pages which follow, was the political weight and influence to be accorded to the political minority (which in South Africa’s race-based politics and electoral outcomes is largely, although not exclusively, the sum of its ethnic minorities). In more settled and mature democracies, such as the United States, the institutional and constitutional design ensures a powerful, sometimes even paralysing, role for the minority party. Just witness the current difficulty afflicting the Democratic majority in the US Congress in driving through its legislative agenda in the teeth of a determined and unified Republican minority.


For reasons of history and suspicion, South Africa’s Constitution provided little institutional power for the future opposition. Such other constraints on untrammelled majoritarianism imposed by the post-1994 order were fairly easily breached by the new government. It was not simply a question of their zeal, but also a consequence of ‘the morality of struggle’ which was invoked by the ANC at every turn in justification of every act and decree – the good, alongside the constitutionally dubious or even the legislatively dangerous. ‘I am in power, therefore I can’ was often the unspoken subtext of great swathes of half-baked, ideologically driven ministerial and legislative enactments.


In the teeth of such an approach, the opposition which I led could more often note and protest, rather than amend, block or influence. But while ‘bearing witness’ is more appropriate to a clergyman than to a politician, it was often necessary for the opposition to act as ‘the canary in the coalmine’: adverting to the dangers which lurked above or below. And while these warnings often went unheeded at the time, some proved prescient and were later taken up by others either when it was safer to do so or when self-interest kicked in. Our early warnings on Zimbabwe, my initial furious spat with Thabo Mbeki on AIDS, our constant campaigning against crime, and warnings on the excesses of the cronyism and nascent corruption embedded within the paraphernalia of the apparatus of transformation, did indeed later become, if not the conventional, then at least the critical wisdom outside the opposition benches.


But that lay in the future. At the time these criticisms were first ventilated, a strange silence or quiescence had settled on the country. It was neither a case of superior morality nor any gifts of special insight which compelled me to speak and act on these issues. It was simply a combination of belief and determination to use the space which the constitutional order had opened up. I also reckoned that if not used and ventilated then such space would close down soon enough.


I sometimes felt most uncomfortable and even inwardly nervous (although I affected never to show it) when I pushed up hard against the presidency of Thabo Mbeki. I knew it was necessary to expose and oppose the excesses – and sometimes even the abuses – of power which happened on his watch. The disdain of his approach and the reinvigoration of race-politics which accompanied it made me ever more determined. But the reverential awe with which Mbeki was received in parliament, and the opprobrium screamed at critics such as me, was to prove utterly misleading. I always thought that such excessive deference, such as the ANC MPs displayed, was dangerous in any democracy, especially one as young and fragile as South Africa’s. I had little idea (and doubtless so did the president) that like a character from Wagner’s Ring des Nibelungen, the ANC rank-and-file would ‘rise from their long slumber’ and decapitate their own leader.


But that is precisely what happened in December 2007, when Mbeki was ejected from his party leadership by his by-now-growing ranks of inside critics. They would repeat, in far more extreme language than my own, many of the same warnings that I had first uttered and which they dismissed as lèse majesté. Such is the wheel of politics, turned it would appear, as Niall Ferguson once observed, by the god of irony.


But while I believed that creating, often in the teeth of the fiercest resistance, the space for opposition, and establishing the legitimacy of its critique, was a necessary and important task, I also knew that in South Africa such virtue was insufficient. That is why much of my leadership was spent in building a stronger opposition force and ensuring that wherever possible we created enclaves where we could win power locally, even if it eluded us nationally. I still nurse some psychic wounds from the rather harrowing, in fact shotgun, marriage which I willed upon the Democratic Party with the New National Party. The events around this saga are also ventilated in this book. But the formation of the Democratic Alliance was based on the fact that the fractured opposition needed more unity and power in order to extend its reach.


That task is by no means complete, and our political control today of Cape Town, and most Western Cape municipalities, is hardly overwhelming proof that South Africa enjoys normal multi-party politics. But it is a necessary and important start of a much longer journey, which must be completed by my political successors. Hopefully when South African politics normalises, becomes less racial, and the national government changes hands (presumably after the majority party splits), we will have completed the second phase of our democratic voyage.


There was an additional bonus to my stay in Cambridge, Massachusetts. I had the opportunity to be an interested bystander in the democratic spectacle of the US presidential election. Although only to be finally concluded in November 2008, by the time of my arrival, in September 2007, the campaign had already been under way for most of the year. As a contrast to the semi-opaque nature of the ANC presidential race which was under way at the same time in South Africa, I thought the open and inquiring nature of the American process (despite the obscene amounts of money thrown at it and its exhausting length) had much to commend it.


However, my home thoughts and analogies from abroad were extended even further when my long-time South African friend Cliff Garrun was visiting me in October. We both decided one unseasonably balmy fall evening to join some ten thousand others in the urban parkland of Boston Common. Our attendance there was to hear Barack Obama, presidential candidate for the Democratic nomination. I thought I had maxed out on political speeches and was generally long past being impressed by fellow politicians, however elevated their status or office. Yet Obama managed to sprinkle magic dust in the eyes of his audience that night, including, I later realised, in my own. I wondered whether this was because his election, however likely or improbable, gave an African-American the first serious chance of occupying the White House and heading a country whose racial history and current antagonisms are perhaps as severe as, or even exceeded, those of South Africa.


Then I thought, perhaps it was a demonstration of America’s political maturity that three of its presidential candidates at the time (Senator Hillary Clinton, a woman; Governor Mitt Romney, a Mormon; and Obama), each represented a group outside the mainstream moulds from which American presidents are traditionally cast. But on closer reflection, I realised both the real power of the Obama candidacy and the depth of his personal conviction: in his speech that night he never once referred to his colour, his suffering or his people’s struggle for equality. As the thoughtful commentator on public affairs, Andrew Sullivan, commented: ‘Race is what makes Obama a transformative candidate: not because of his emphasis on it but because of his real unwillingness to pick sides in a divide that reaches back centuries and appears at times unbridgeable.’4


‘Why,’ I thought to myself, ‘couldn’t South Africa have this kind of transformation?’ It seemed far more inclusive and inspirational than the hollowed-out version of this neologism currently practised in my own country: a sort of ethnic-holding race politics, with generous lashings of an exclusionary nationalism. This had informed so much of our past. And it seems to have continued, after a brief pause, since 1994. When South Africans made their own great leap forward to an inclusive democracy I had, quite wrongly as it now transpires, assumed that we had also buried racial nationalism in history’s graveyard of discarded ideologies and faulty practices.


Why we have not done so – and why we need to recapture that brief, shining moment of non-racial hope and democratic possibility that flickered so brightly on that glorious autumn day in May 1994 when Nelson Mandela was inaugurated as president – forms the bulk and substance of this book.


The flip side of my personal journey along South Africa’s political highways, and inside its darker labyrinths, has often been accompanied by an intense background noise. It has been almost as incessant as the cry of the hadeda bird on a Highveld afternoon after a summer rainfall. Its essence boils down to a formula of words asked either out of genuine concern or with an angry resentment: ‘Can a white person lead a political movement in Africa?’ (Or should racial minorities be involved at all in the public life of their country?)


Robert Mugabe in neighbouring Zimbabwe began to destroy his country in 2000 after he unexpectedly lost a referendum. Peter Godwin (whose occasional advice to me on writing this memoir has been invaluable) captured that moment of seething resentment perfectly. In his memoir of Africa, When A Crocodile Eats the Sun, he writes:


‘[Mugabe] was boiling with the public humiliation. How could he, who had liberated his people, now be rejected? How could they be so ungrateful? It couldn’t be his own people who had done this (even though 99% of the electorate was black). It must have been other people, white people leading them astray. He would show us … we had broken the unspoken ethnic contract. We had tried to act like citizens, instead of expatriates, here on sufferance.’


I am a third-generation South African; I was also its third, and, thus far, longest-serving, leader of the parliamentary opposition since the advent of democracy. I am also white. But I never entered into ‘an ethnic contract’ nor have I ever considered myself bound by its terms, real or implied. As I attempt to demonstrate in the pages that follow, the basic bargain underpinning South Africa’s constitutional order is both the claim and the promise of equal citizenship in all realms of life. But the difficulties in fulfilling this commitment, on all sides, and how far we have strayed from our Constitution’s founding premise, has been a central theme of my political life, and my primary motivation in often going against the grain of consensus at times when it was difficult to do so.


I believe that the abyss into which Zimbabwe was plunged by Mugabe is not the inevitable destination for South Africa. But it is not an impossible one either. Kenya is an even more recent – and cautionary – African tale of how the illusion of stability and democracy can be ripped asunder quite easily, when elections are stolen and simmering ethnic tensions are inflamed. The xenophobic killings and attacks in South Africa’s townships and squatter camps which shocked South Africa and the world in May 2008 are a potent and baleful reminder that the ‘rainbow nation’ is in fact composed of highly flammable and combustible ingredients. South Africa’s future depends on our actions and reactions in resisting, democratically as citizens, not as supplicants, the totalitarian temptation in whatever guise it appears and whenever it needs to be interdicted.


CAPE TOWN


May 2008
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PATH TO LEADERSHIP














1. In My Beginnings


CHAPTER 1


In My Beginnings


The past is a foreign country; they do things differently there.


LP HARTLEY


We all come into the world with baggage which, in the end, we have no hope of reclaiming.


ROBERT HUGHES


1


Wednesday 8 May 1996 promised and delivered a far from routine sitting of the parliament of the Republic of South Africa. A hubbub of excitement and expectation resonated in the chamber since we were about to ratify the new national constitution. In my brown leather front-bench seat – somewhat to the side of the ‘football-style’ legislative chamber with its origins in the discredited Tricameral parliament of PW Botha – I waited to see the vestiges of the old order eradicated.


It was a day that dawned almost thirty months after the inauguration of the Interim Constitution, which had ushered in the most truly epoch-changing transition to our new democratic order. Immense haggling and bargaining underlay this historic compact – not least because the atmosphere was replete with drama and trauma as the Inkatha Freedom Party of Mangosuthu G Buthelezi had refused to participate in the proceedings of the Constitutional Assembly; the far-right Afrikaans party, the Freedom Front, had indicated an abstention; and the fringe African Christian Democratic Party, with two members, dissented and voted against.


The Democratic Party which I led consisted then of only seven MPs and three senators. All ten had been up deep into the night reaching for agreement on whether to support the final passage of the constitution, or not. One of my colleagues, Kobus Jordaan, had become deeply emotional during our final discussions after a rather brutal put-down by our chief constitutional negotiator, the redoubtable but gruff Colin Eglin.


The weariness gave way to the normal adrenalin surge. I was ready and waiting to make my speech when called on to do so by the chairman of the Constitutional Assembly, Cyril Ramaphosa – previously the ANC secretary-general and soon to become one of South Africa’s leading businessmen.


The entire tone of the debate was set by the deputy president, Thabo Mbeki, who struck an extraordinary note of dramatic reconciliation and rare eloquence, when he stated: ‘I am an African.’ In a remarkably articulate speech evoking the flora, fauna and tumultuous humanity of our nation and continent, he orchestrated the debate.


Mildly panicked, I realised that my introduction would have to change so that I, too, could acknowledge the refrain ‘I am an African’ – taken up by the leader of the National Party, FW de Klerk, and others who spoke before me.


When I rose on behalf of the Democratic Party to support the passage of the constitution – despite our reservations on some provisions – I entered into the spirit of the moment: ‘I too make claim to being an African, not just by birth, but by choice … Others have spoken of their origins and journeys into the new South Africa. Three generations ago, my great-grandparents fled the oppression of a distant country on another continent. They came to a country where rights were granted to the few, but denied to the many. I am humbled and privileged today to be part of a process rectifying that historic wrong – and extending those rights, from the few to the many.’1


Who were these great-grandparents of mine? What were the family origins that had catapulted me, a representative of the current generation, to a ringside seat in the parliament of one of the world’s newest democracies, previously its pre-eminent festering trouble-spot and certainly one of the morality plays of the 20th century?


The story requires a little disentangling.


Almost every South African Jewish family’s provenance can be traced back to the Pale of Settlement created in 1791 by Catherine the Great.2 It lasted until the First World War and confined the Jews of eastern Europe to 25 provinces including the Ukraine, Lithuania, Belarus, Crimea, and part of Poland. Most Jews were specifically expelled from Moscow and St Petersburg and forced into the Pale. Later they were also evicted from rural areas within the Pale and forced to live in ghettos, known as ‘shtetls’.


Despite abject poverty, Jews in the Pale developed an extensive social welfare system that was so effective that rabbis were compelled to decree a halt to conversions of non-Jews in order to keep out free-riders.


The late 1800s saw a wave of pogroms against Jews in the Pale. This persecution coincided with rapid industrialisation in the Americas and western Europe, and the discovery of gold and diamonds in South Africa. Jews began emigrating in droves. Between 1881 and 1917, more than two million left Russia: about two million went to the United States; twenty thousand immigrated to Great Britain; a hundred thousand went to Canada; forty thousand to South Africa; and thirty thousand resettled in Europe. Thousands also left for Palestine. Of South Africa’s Jewish immigrants in this period, roughly 80% were from Lithuania and 20% from Poland.


Most of my forebears can trace their origins to the Pale.


Shmuel Zvi Herman was born in Kovno in Lithuania. He married Chaia Rabinowitz whose name was anglicised to Clara Robinson. Of their nine children, one Samuel Herman (Sam), my maternal grandfather, was born in Bradford in England to where the family had moved and from where he, in turn, emigrated to South Africa with his father – fleeing the poverty of their origins. Little is known of their life in Lithuania or England; there is a generalised account of poverty and struggle.


Sam Herman arrived in Cape Town in 1912 – a city dominant in the life of my family, and where I ultimately made my home. He was industrious and intelligent and, unlike succeeding generations, devoutly religious. Shortly after the First World War, the Hermans moved to Johannesburg and Sam, with his brother-in-law Louis Traub, established the firm of wholesale wool merchants, Herman & Traub.


The family lived in Saratoga Avenue in Doornfontein, Johannesburg – a suburb which at the time attracted many Jewish immigrants.


In 1923, with a prospering business under his belt, Sam married my maternal grandmother, Rachel (Ray) Kowarsky, whose family immigrated to South Africa from Vilnius in Lithuania – the ancestral home of many Jewish South Africans. They did particularly well in the early 20th century with a fresh produce business and a bag and bone company (which literally collected bags and bones by horse cart), called Sand, Kowarsky & Co.


Ray grew up in a splendid old house in Empire Road, Parktown, Johannesburg – today part of the Pieter Roos Park bordering Hillbrow and the Parktown Ridge. The house remained in the family for many years, since it was bequeathed by Ray’s father, Noah, to her sister, my great aunt Rose. My brother Peter and I spent many happy holidays in Johannesburg in its splendid garden, with an orchard on one side and a swimming pool on the other.


Sam and Ray were a fortunate couple, Ray a highly attractive woman, and Sam a devout man who prospered in business and made good provision for his future family.


In 1929 my mother, Sheila Jean, was born in Johnson Street, Berea. In 1935 the business had flourished and they were able to move to Observatory, a more upmarket suburb, where Sheila and her older brother Neil delighted in their new status symbol, a tennis court. It seemed a happy trajectory.


Three years later, tragedy. My grandparents sailed for England. Sam took ill and was diagnosed with then-fatal pleurisy of the lung. In the background was Munich and the ‘peace in our time’ crisis. Because of the onset of winter and uncertainty about the European situation, Sam was urged to leave England, but developed septicaemia on the passage home. This was before sulphur drugs were in general use, and he died shortly after returning in February 1939, at the young age of 47.


More than any other event, this was to blight Sheila’s life; to create in her a sense of impermanence and insecurity that played out with far-reaching consequences for her family, including her children.


Sheila, in the immortal words of Queen Mary, was ‘a pretty kettle of fish’. Devastated by Sam’s death – she was nine – she strengthened the bond with Neil, four years her senior. She went to boarding school at Kingsmead, one of the top private schools of its time, and once related that she got her first party dress at 17, when she was allowed to dance with a boy.


My father, Ramon, advocate and judge, had forebears who found their way to South Africa by a not dissimilar route. But his mother, Tamara Drusinsky, was, all agreed, an exotic beauty and hailed from the Russian Crimea. She was the daughter of Dr David Drusinsky and his wife Bluma. Drusinsky was born in the Crimea in about 1850, and unusually for a Russian Jew was allowed to qualify as both a doctor and a dentist at the Moscow Medical School. Despite the apparent concessions his family received, he too left Russia as part of the massive migration to South Africa in 1896, bringing Tamara. His two adult children Abraska and Panya remained behind, and nothing is known today about them or their fate.


Tamara’s ‘Russianness’ gave me a conversational gambit when I met Vladimir Putin on his state visit to South Africa in September 2006. My ANC colleagues, especially parliament’s Speaker, Baleka Mbete, regaled President Putin with stories from their Moscow days and invoked the wonders of Soviet support for ‘the struggle’. Then when the Speaker called on me to address some remarks to Putin, I thought to mention that I was certainly the only South African in the room with him who had a Russian grandmother.


In his intense, polite fashion Putin deadpanned in response that the Crimea was now part of the Ukraine, but he was ‘very pleased’ that Tamara had given South Africa such an ‘important legacy’ – myself. My ANC colleagues were taken aback.


Actually Tamara, or ‘Granny T’ as we called her, was born when the ship docked in Constantinople in the Ottoman Empire (now Istanbul in Turkey), and arrived in South Africa as a babe-in-arms. Dr Drusinsky apparently had to obtain permission from the president of the Transvaal Republic, Paul Kruger, to practise as a dentist, which he did in Barbican Buildings in downtown Johannesburg until his death in 1921.


In 1999 a vast fuss was generated in the media and among my political opponents when the majority of Afrikaans-speaking South Africans voted for the party which I led. However, this ‘toenadering’ hales back to Dr Drusinsky’s time in South Africa – since, apart from his dentistry, Kruger thoughtfully appointed him as one of his official translators from Russian into English and vice versa.


Ramon’s paternal line was also tinged with the exotic. While his grandfather, Barnett Leon, was born in England in 1845, the Leons were originally Polish and had lived in Spain for several hundred years. The mists of time have descended over whatever connection might ever have existed between the family name and the eponymously named corner of the Spanish kingdom.


As it happened, Barnett seems to have been the least successful – financially – of all my ancestors. He arrived in Cape Town from England in 1869 at the age of 23 or 24, and must have had a little money since he started a jewellery business in Cape Town. From this source he gave his cousin, George Albu, some trinkets to help him on his way to Kimberley, fame and fortune.


Albu, who was knighted in 1912 for his services to mining, was with his brother Leopold the founder of the General Mining and Finance Corporation – later merged with the Union Corporation to become Gencor. According to Mendel Kaplan,3 George was particularly far-sighted, ‘one of the first to experiment with the deep levels of the Witwatersrand’. The first blasting experiment on a South African gold mine was conducted on a property controlled by the Albu brothers.


The less fortunate Barnett’s wife was Amelia Freeman, one of 12 children, born in Penarth near Cardiff in South Wales in 1864. She arrived in South Africa with her parents, Joseph and Emma Freeman, who brought all their children, bar one, to Cape Town in 1880. Six years later, Amelia and Barnett were married in the Mother City, exactly 104 years before my wife Michal and I tied the knot there. Shortly after the betrothal they took the coach for Kimberley in the hope of emulating the more famous cousin, George. But after failing to find either fame or fortune in Kimberley – and certainly no diamonds – they arrived in Johannesburg in 1889.


It was there that Jack Leon – my paternal grandfather – was born on 16 January 1892 in End Street, Doornfontein, an inner-city suburb of a Johannesburg founded only six years before his birth. A Rand pioneer, his advent coincided with the years of Paul Kruger’s presidency. At the outbreak of the South African War in 1899 he was able to observe Barnett – who unlike Amelia did not sit out the war in England – ‘help the Boers’ at the same time that his business career took a direction opposite to that of George Albu.


First he owned a bar, the Trocadera, and later a spectacularly unsuccessful bookshop. Barnett was also responsible for introducing into the family line the concept of divorce – practically unheard of in the early 20th century: he divorced Amelia. My own parents divorced in 1965, and six months later my father’s only sister, Valerie, was divorced. My mother Sheila was to marry three times; my father Ramon twice; and I married a divorcée. Only my unmarried brother seems to have escaped the curse.


In this long fault line of broken marriages we find the extraordinary circumstances of Jack and Tamara’s union. They had met before the First World War and became engaged. When Jack announced his intention of fighting the Germans in East Africa, Tamara retorted: ‘If you go to the war, Jack, I will break the engagement and marry someone else.’ I must have inherited my obduracy and obstinacy from both, since my grandfather duly went up north and my grandmother, as promised, broke her engagement and married another, Herman Cohen, with whom she had a daughter, Valerie.


But when Jack survived the war, his imprisonment and a near-fatal bout of the Spanish flu – a pandemic that swept South Africa after 1918 – he and Tamara reunited; she duly divorced the unfortunate Mr Cohen, and married Jack in 1922.


In 1925 my father, Ramon Nigel Leon, was born in Page Street in Yeoville, Johannesburg. His first home was alongside the municipal ward of Bellevue, which I was to represent as city councillor more than fifty years later.


Jack was in many ways an inspiration. So much is spoken in South Africa about previously disadvantaged individuals – known by the acronym ‘PDIs’. But when I think about my grandfather’s life and career, he truly deserved the title. He was forced to leave school at 14 because of the poverty of his profligate father and his impoverished mother. Nevertheless, he went to night school and learned shorthand and typing. This secured him a job with another famous Randlord, Sir Thomas Cullinan, after whom one of the most famous diamonds in the world was named.


In this manner he landed up as company secretary to Cullinan Diamond Mine – outside Pretoria – and he used to regale us with stories about its founder, who once asked him to order a library from England. When Grandpa enquired which books he would like, Sir Thomas replied: ‘Never mind the titles, Jack, order them by the yard.’


In 1930 Jack briefly prospered with his own business, the Glencairn Lime Company. However, like his father before him, his success was temporary and illusory; he gambled it all on the stock exchange – and lost.


His brother Billy, however, started a hugely successful motor dealership, Leon Motors, a company listed on the JSE in 1935, and it held the agency for the major cars of the time: Packard, Pontiac and Vauxhall.


Billy set Jack up in the motor business in Durban, to which my grandparents departed in 1934. Grandpa prospered again for a while and then blew it all again 20 years later when he retired and decided to invest his small fortune in a chicken farm on the Natal South Coast which went belly-up.


Jack suffered from the defects of his qualities. His trusting nature made him vulnerable to others with lesser scruples. His easygoing, carefree attitude made him careless about saving money – another trait I have inherited.


When Tamara and Jack came to Durban they became very friendly with an ‘old Durban family’, Rupert and Claire Ellis-Brown. Jack shared a poker table with Rupert, his brother Tick and four others, all gentiles. On one celebrated occasion my grandfather was the only winner. He rose at the end of the game: ‘Thank you, gentlemen,’ he said: ‘This must be a case of Jewish luck beating Christian Science.’


Grandpa Jack was a fine and amusing man who spent many evenings entertaining my brother and me with tales of the war and stories of old Johannesburg and his extremely chequered career in business. He had a common, endearing touch; a wry sense of humour; and a most gentle philosophy of life. He was well-loved, and lived to a great age. On his 90th birthday in 1982 my father organised a big celebration in Durban. My brother Peter proposed the toast for the grandchildren: ‘Grandpa’s life is proof that learning does not lie in learning, and riches do not lie in riches.’


Jack lived on for another two years.


I find the American habit of using and promoting one’s family to illustrate a political principle or illuminate an issue mawkish or vulgar or both. However, by the time of the Democratic Alliance’s 2004 congress I was sick and tired of the caricature of myself as a child of privilege. The volume was invariably ratcheted up to distract public attention from the obscene amounts of money being acquired by ANC fat-cats through deals based on political cronyism or the worst sort of rent-seeking. So, at our party congress and after the 2004 elections, I had this to say:


‘My grandfather [had little] because of the poverty of his family. He had to leave school at 14 and make his way in the world as best he could. [Yet] because of the opportunities he opened for the next generation, and which society helped him to provide, his son became a Supreme Court judge. And his grandson stands before you right now … In those days, there were only opportunities for some. Today there must be opportunities for all. And this opportunity which my family has had, these blessings I have received – this is what the DA seeks for the whole of South Africa, for all the people. Every South African counts. No one should be left behind …’


By all accounts my father’s childhood in Durban was uneventful and happy – his parents combining the virtues or defects of strictness and love in more or less equal measure. He attended Durban High School, then the premier government day school of its kind in the city. He went straight from university in Pietermaritzburg, where he prospered, to the Bar in Johannesburg where he was admitted as an advocate on 20 April 1948, just before the National Party won power in the fateful general election.


The Nationalists’ shock election had profound consequences for my father’s incipient career at the Bar. The first National Party minister of Justice, CR (Blackie) Swart, began to appoint members of the Bar to the Bench, not on merit, but for political reasons. Like the ANC government after it, the new government almost immediately began to use its power of patronage.


My father recounts another problem: most of the leading senior counsel or silks at the Johannesburg Bar were Jewish, but now Jewish appointees to the Bench were apparently few and far between – the first such by the National Party was made only in 1955. The result was to create a tremendous bottleneck at the Bar: the silks did not become judges, and senior juniors could not take silk, and the junior juniors could not inherit the work of the senior juniors.


Life at the bottom of this food chain was difficult for my father. Nonetheless, he commenced practice on the tenth floor of His Majesty’s Buildings next door to Joe Slovo, who was to achieve notoriety and fame over the next five decades.


My father was to achieve great distinction, some controversy and a considerable reputation as both a lawyer and a judge. Oddly, he did not believe that he ever had what might be called a natural aptitude for the law; as he put it: ‘I lack a particularly subtle mind.’ What he did have in those days was the ability to see the real point in a case – and a flair for advocacy.


In many ways, his career mirrored the political developments and social mores of the land. Thus it happened that my father was on the Western Circuit of the old Transvaal of 1951 and acting as a prosecutor against a white man charged with raping a black woman. The minister of Justice had forgotten to direct that the trial be held by a judge and assessors – and the accused wisely elected to be tried by an all-white jury. The result was inevitable, but it was assisted by some fine advocacy by Charl Theron, a great jury advocate. He had the ability to make small discrepancies assume monumental proportions, and his closing address was superb. My father says that he sat up until 4 am with the assistance of the court stenographer, Bernard Pitt, preparing his address to the jury in Afrikaans. An unavailing labour: the accused was acquitted.


There was a corroboratory lesson in racial legal manoeuvres in a similar case some years earlier, when a white accused appeared before Mr Justice Greenberg charged with raping a black woman. After deliberating briefly the jury returned and the judge asked the foreman to state the verdict. ‘Guilty but insane,’ replied the foreman. ‘What?’ said the judge; ‘all nine of you?’


A year before that, in 1950, my father had a brief to defend a white man from England and his co-accused, an allegedly Coloured woman, charged with contravening the Immorality Act. It was common cause that the couple were living together as man and wife, but the question was whether the Crown could prove that the female accused was not white but Coloured. The detective sergeant who arrested the woman said that she seemed to be Coloured in appearance and lived in an area mainly inhabited by Coloured people and that her brother also appeared to be Coloured.


My father’s cross-examination was selective and extremely brief. Having asked the accused to pull up the sleeve of her dress he proceeded thus:


‘Sergeant, you will see that her skin is lily white. Do you agree?’


‘Yes.’


‘Is not the skin on her face just the same?’


‘Yes.’


‘Why did you arrest the accused?’


‘Because she has high cheek bones.’


‘Is there anything unusual about that?’


‘No.’


‘Do you, yourself, not have high cheek bones?’


‘Yes.’


My father sat down. The accused were acquitted but a storm erupted. In a leading article entitled ‘The woman who had high cheek bones’, the editor of the Star wrote:


‘Once again, a woman has been dragged into the courts and accused under the Immorality Act because a policeman thought she was Coloured … [S]o long as the race laws remain on the statute books, they must be obeyed, but how can the law be truly interpreted when it is not precise? … If parliament cannot decide on something better, MPs of every political shade should insist that decent investigations are made without embarrassment to the suspected individual, before a woman who may merely have been having sun-ray treatment is subjected to the indignity of an arrest.’4


Absurd as this case and this cross-examination appear from the moral heights which South Africa has now reached, we can see the hurt and humiliation of those at the receiving end of the mad hatter’s ideology of apartheid.


On New Year’s Eve, 1953, after my father had been in practice for about five years, he became engaged to my mother, Sheila, after apparently only six dates. They were married three months later on his 29th birthday, on 31 March 1954.


My mother had apparently enjoyed a very full social life and a number of romantic liaisons. Her mother, Ray, who subsequently escaped widowhood by marrying a mining engineer, Jack Grusd, exercised a great deal of control over her wilful daughter. Ray’s idea of perfection was that both her children, Sheila and Neil, should ‘marry well’ – i.e. into the Jewish haute bourgeoisie – and ‘preferably a professional man’, she instructed my mother.


Sheila, who was a curious and intriguing amalgam of contradictory impulses, simultaneously sought to defy and to obey Ray. So she conducted a secret liaison with a leading young physician in Port Elizabeth who met all my grandmother’s requirements, except – horror of horrors – he was a gentile! Whether on the rebound or not, my mother’s meeting with my father, arranged by a mutual acquaintance at the Bar, was exactly to my grandmother’s taste and delight.


Sheila was then 24 years old and had emerged from the University of the Witwatersrand with a BA and already spent some time abroad, where she was wined and dined by admirers from Oslo to London. When she met my father she had begun a career in public relations and was deeply involved in promoting the recently launched South African National Tuberculosis Association in Sandton.


She was undoubtedly the greatest single influence on my life, part flapper, part intellectual and part bohemian. One of her close friends, Roseline Shapiro, described her much later as ‘a non-conventional conformist’ or as ‘a conforming non-conventionalist’. Whatever … I inherited many of her flaws but also some of her attributes, two of which were a social conscience and elements of her piercing wit and humour.


Barbara Bush, matriarch of the eponymous American political dynasty, has been described as ‘prickly, tart-tongued, and an injustice collector’ – and in many ways that described Sheila at her brilliant best and irascible worst. Her wonderful gift of friendship was matched only by her penchant for petty squabbles and fallouts with seemingly good friends. Many years later I accused her of keeping a ‘grievance bank’, into which, I noted, there were far more deposits than withdrawals.


Shortly after my parents returned from their honeymoon my father discovered that his practice was not moving as fast as he thought it ought to. Chance intervened. He was involved in two cases in Durban and was persuaded to start a practice there; the opportunities were so much greater. Reluctantly, my mother agreed to leave her family and friends and they decamped to Durban on 1 September 1955. My brother, Peter, had been born earlier that year in Johannesburg. I arrived on 15 December 1956 at the St Augustine’s Hospital in Durban, and was named Anthony James Leon. Almost from birth, and certainly from my earliest recall, I was called Tony, except by Grandpa Jack who always called me Toto. My teachers used my formal first name.


The sultry climate of Durban was the warm, if humid, background to my early life, my formative years and my first political stirrings.


The historian Paul Johnson is fascinated by the dates when people are born and die, and the events that surround them. He says: ‘[K]nowing your own historical context gives you a perspective on events, not always reassuring.’5


In the year of my birth, the National Party under the leadership of JG Strijdom, the so-called ‘Lion of the North’ – even in the context of his times regarded as an extremist hardliner – held sway. Already in power for eight years, the Nationalists had commenced assembling the legislative foundations of apartheid, having been elected on the promise that only the total separation of the races would prevent a move towards equality and the overwhelming of white South Africa by blacks.


While other discriminatory societies at that time – such as the United States – maintained the legislative and political fig-leaf that ‘separate means equal’, South Africa’s unique system was untarnished by such hypocrisy. For example, the minister of Native Affairs, Hendrik Verwoerd, introducing the Bantu Education Act (1953), decreed that blacks should be sealed off from the relative advantages of state education, and created a separate, grossly inferior, system for blacks. African pupils would be ‘trained in accordance with their opportunities in life’, which he considered ‘did not reach above the level of certain forms of labour.’6


In the month of my birth – December 1956 – the Soviet army brutally suppressed the Hungarian uprising. At home, the year marked the end of a titanic and futile battle to invalidate the government’s attempts to remove the ‘Coloured’ (as distinct from African) voters in the Cape Province from a common roll. This singular instance of multiracial exceptionalism dated back to an historic compromise at the time of the formation of the Union of South Africa itself in 1910. Since 1951 the National Party had been attempting to circumvent the constitution or alter its entrenched provisions, but it lacked the requisite two-thirds majority.


Furthermore, the United Party opposition in parliament showed uncharacteristic grit and determination. They ultimately persuaded the highest court in the land to throw out the National Party’s attempt at constitutional gerrymandering.


However, the court indicated that its powers were extremely limited. It could, in terms of the Union constitution, only determine whether the procedure employed by the legislature was legally competent. So after half-a-decade of struggle, the Nationalists succeeded in their quest by the simple expedient of packing the Senate with nominated members and achieving – albeit artificially – a two-thirds majority.


From 1949 onwards, the first apartheid parliament commenced the systematic codification and ratification of discriminatory patterns and practices which had been evolving since white settlement first came to South Africa some three hundred years before. In the NP’s world order, apartheid began at birth with racial stratification under the Population Registration Act (1950) and continued through every stage of life’s journey. Even at its end the separation was maintained in (legally decreed) segregated cemeteries.
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Probably as an intended insult, one of my predecessors as leader of the opposition once described my political and parliamentary style as ‘pure Westminster’. This was a dig at a certain perceived ‘unAfricanness’ which became the form of background noise of what passed for political discourse in the late 1990s. However, Frederik van Zyl Slabbert, my accuser, was closer to the truth than he realised since my first home was at 22 Westminster Drive in the middle-class enclave of Durban North.


However, my earliest memories relate to our next home – a formidable three-storey pile atop a hill, 240 South Ridge Road, Durban, where the panoramic sweep south took in Manor Gardens and the University of Natal campus at Howard College; while eastwards, or straight ahead from my bedroom, were the twinkling lights of Durban harbour at night – and the shimmering waves of the Indian Ocean by day.


Durban – Africa’s biggest port and the country’s third-biggest city – was noteworthy for its population mix. The province was a demographic fruit salad of Zulu, Indian and white. Zululand was almost a different country, although the Tugela River – its western boundary – was only about eighty kilometres from our home. We vaguely heard stories of King Shaka and his Zulu impis, whose forces had shaken the British army before ultimately being crushed in the Battle of Ulundi on 4 July 1879. The province of Natal – of which Durban was the most important city – had its name bestowed by explorer Vasco da Gama who allegedly first saw the coastline on Christmas Day, 1497.


But what distinguished Natal and Durban from the rest of the country was neither its Portuguese precursors nor its humid climate and sun-speckled beaches. It was the only part of the Union (as South Africa then was) where English-speakers formed a majority of the white population. In the Transvaal and Orange Free State, Afrikaans was the lingua franca and the dominant influence in the political life of their white citizenry; in Natal, Englishness, and to an extent the Indian population, set it apart.


While English and Afrikaans whites collaborated to maintain their hegemony over blacks, they divided – sharply – on the ‘Imperial Connection’, attachment to the English motherland. Further, a basic detestation of their Afrikaans-speaking fellow citizens was a feature of ‘English’ Natal life and politics until the late 1960s.


Notably, much myth and guff surrounds the alleged warmth (or at least understanding) between black and Afrikaans South Africans today, allegedly because of their shared attachment to and roots in the soil. A strict contrast is drawn with the alleged uitlander mentality of English South Africans. Like all racial generalisations and stereotyping, there is a pebble of truth in this – but a boulder of mythologising.


As recently as 2005 I was told by a departing foreign diplomat that a preference for the Boer-Black axis – and a concomitant disparagement of the English – is very much a prejudice shared by President Thabo Mbeki. As the emissary, known to be close to Mbeki, put it: ‘He can’t stand the English, but has a sneaking regard for the Afrikaner.’ It was not a sentiment that many reciprocated; many whites today regard Mbeki as having an anti-white perspective – without linguistic distinctions.


While the province of my birth did not differ from the rest of the country on the fundamentals of race and politics, its close colonial ties to Britain did set it somewhat apart from the other provinces, from Union (1910) to the establishment of a Republic in 1961. In a study of the British Civic Culture of Natal South Africa, 1902-1961, PS Thompson makes the pertinent point that a constant in Natal history was that the Union of South Africa was greeted with a singular lack of enthusiasm, as was the succeeding Republic. This was more than a question of establishing – and bitterly preserving – white minority rule ‘in a land full of blacks’; in Natal the process was reinforced by the predominance of ‘the British’ at the time of Union – then making up perhaps 74% of the white population of the province.


Of course, we had the skins of privilege, and my father’s burgeoning legal practice – supplemented by Granny Ray’s material generosity. We had all the accoutrements of an advantaged elite: weekends at the Oyster Box hotel in nearby Umhlanga Rocks, holidays in the mountains of the Drakensberg and in Johannesburg; a legion of servants and nannies; and the effortless assumption that a private-school education could ensure that ‘the blessings’ (as our parents called us) would be insulated against the travails of Christian National Education then being imposed by the Nats on the public schools – promising us the best kind of life as scions of the elect.


Nevertheless, the political climate into which I was born was not simply set by the National Party’s grim and benighted legislative railroad. There was, too, African resistance. My first conscious awareness of politics was when my brother and I stood on the veranda of our house on the crest of South Ridge Road and excitedly watched South African Defence Force Saracens, or armoured cars, on their way to subdue the densely populated African township of Cato Manor, which practically bordered the leafy and salubrious area in which we lived. To a four-year-old and his brother, this was all a game, like war or a sophisticated version of the cops-and-robbers we played at nursery school. In fact it was the deadly face and force of the government imposing the first state of emergency since the advent of National Party rule. It was 1960.


Cato Manor loomed large in my family’s life that year. My father, at the extremely young age of 33, had ‘taken silk’, attaining the rank of ‘Queen’s Counsel’ or Senior Advocate. He was one of the youngest QCs in the country, and was briefed to lead the team of lawyers to defend the ‘natives’ who had rioted when the police entered the township to confiscate and impound illegal liquor. This routine raid had lit the simmering fires of resentment smouldering in the vast, teeming township – and nine policemen were killed in the encounter. Twenty-eight ‘non-Europeans’ were charged with the murders of ‘four Europeans and five natives’.7


My father recalls that the proceedings ‘lasted for 87 court days; at that time it was the longest murder trial in South African history. The trial was a trial in more ways than one for me: it became a tribulation, it nearly caused me to have a nervous breakdown and came close to ruining my practice.’


A major issue was why a trivial liquor raid had given rise to such a brutal and merciless attack upon the police. It became clear to Ramon that ‘a large part of the population of Cato Manor bore feelings of hostility towards the uniformed branch of the South African Police in January when the attack took place.’


‘I contended that in the year 1960 the philosophy of an eye for an eye and a tooth for a tooth was to be rejected. The law had been implemented in such a way that the inhabitants of Cato Manor had been harassed by the police to the point where a most trivial incident had sparked off an explosion …


‘The cause was exceedingly unpopular, the prosecution very hostile, and the court did not display any particular sympathy towards the defence. The prosecution gave no quarter and we had to fight every inch of the way.’


There was an inspection in loco: ‘Within minutes of our arrival a crowd of several hundred black people gathered. They watched intently as we moved around the area guarded by policemen armed with Sten guns. By the time we left some hours later the crowd had swelled to more than a thousand strong. And there were others watching from in front of their huts on the surrounding hillsides.’


At the time, ‘Cato Manor was a slum consisting for the most part of closely packed corrugated-iron shacks. It was an unhygienic, overcrowded shack town.’


After about three exhausting months, the Crown case finally closed. My father relates: ‘We had hoped that about half would be acquitted and that we might be able to avoid the death sentence for some of the others. In the event 18 were convicted and ten acquitted … [E]xtenuating circumstances were found in the case of eight of those convicted, with the consequence that ten were sentenced to death. Our argument on general extenuating circumstances was rejected; still, the evidence which had been led had not been in vain, for in the case of three of the accused extenuating circumstances were found, partly because of the alcohol consumed and partly because “the instincts of the chase” had got the better of the accused.’


The trial ended on 15 December 1960, my fourth birthday. When asked later about how I grew up under apartheid, my mother stated: ‘In our home he was exposed to liberal values.’ Indeed I was, and that year had a particular resonance for my parents.
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In 1960 both my parents became more closely bound to the political realities of the land. While my father wrestled in court with the unpleasant consequences of the police action, my mother was immersed through the Women’s Section of the Institute of Race Relations (which she helped establish in Durban) in a musical named Mkumbane. Its significance in Durban in 1960 was what the Natal Mercury described as its ‘all-native’ cast of 130.


Staged shortly before the grim onset of the state of emergency, the play was also noteworthy for the collaboration between its lyricist, Alan Paton, and its composer, Todd Matshikiza. Matshikiza went on to fame, if not fortune, with King Kong. Paton, of course, is known worldwide as the author of Cry, the Beloved Country.


Mkumbane is the isiZulu name for Cato Manor, and translates as ‘the village in the gulley’. The Institute (in particular, my mother) threw its energies into making a success of the production, which depicted township life in a manner little known to white Durban. Its run at Durban City Hall was a sellout: Sheila handled marketing and publicity.


Paton was president of the Liberal Party (to the left of the Progressives, and in consequence even more electorally unpopular); he became a frequent visitor to our house. And after the production’s great success, the Natal chairman of the Institute, Archbishop Denis Hurley, presented my mother with an album of photographs and press cuttings. In an inspiring inscription, he wrote:


‘To Sheila Leon – This album commemorating Mkumbane is presented to you by the Natal Region of the Institute of Race Relations as a small token of our deep appreciation of your very valuable contribution to the success of this memorable production. We hope that in the years to come it will recall that at a time when there was little laughter and joy in our country, Mkumbane was to all of us a symbol of what can be achieved by men and women who forget the petty things that divide in the pursuit of a noble goal that unites.’


Hurley was at the time the youngest archbishop in the Roman Catholic world, and bore prophetic and prescient witness. After my mother’s death in December 2001, I felt that the album – with its precious and unique memories – more rightly belonged to the Matshikiza family than to my own. Accordingly, I sent it to Todd’s son, John, an actor and writer living in Johannesburg.


What was Mkumbane about? I was too preoccupied with playing marbles and rounders at school, and staying out of trouble. And indeed I did increasingly find myself in trouble – though for being unpunctual, untidy or speaking out of turn.


What I specifically recall was an injunction from Sheila never under any circumstances to refer to blacks as ‘natives’ or to Indians as ‘coolies’, but to call them Africans and Indians. We were instructed to stand when any adult entered the room.


Another form of early ‘conscientisation’ was when she piled Peter and me into her blue Morris Minor, and drove us around Umlazi (black) and Merebank (Indian), to grasp the true context in which we lived. My mother’s great fear, at that stage, was that her children would simply accept ‘Granny’s Ray’s bourgeois or middle-class (Jewish) values’ as the norm. There was a much wider and harsher world outside the relatively protected and privileged suburbs, and Sheila Leon was determined that her children should experience it, or at least be aware of its existence.


Although most of Sheila’s enthusiasms and projects were temporary, she strongly imbued us with an early and permanent sense of the gathering apartheid injustice.


In Christopher Hitchens’s masterful study of George Orwell8 he observes that, living and writing as Orwell did, he ‘discredited the excuse of “historical context” and the shady alibi that there was, in the circumstances, nothing else people could have done.’ Forty years on, it is easy to say that my parents and their circle could have ‘done more’ or that their opposition to apartheid was feeble. But it was an inescapable fact that white Durban, and South Africa, were deeply conservative and inherently racist. My parents’ behaviour needs to be seen against that backdrop.


In 1981, when I was a student of the Witwatersrand law faculty, one of my father’s close friends and eminent judicial colleagues, John Didcott, was invited to address our annual law dinner. He was a pre-eminent and crusading liberal jurist with a brilliant mind, if an occasional intolerant manner. Appropriately for the time, he dissected the dilemma of participating in an unjust system, rather than working for its revolutionary overthrow. He was characteristically frank:


‘The idea that by working within a system one “lends respectability” to it, and thus strengthens it, is fast becoming a cliché. It is a peculiarly modern one, what is more. Human society would have made little progress had that view prevailed throughout history … If one is too fastidious to soil one’s cuffs [one cannot change] society … To change that, one must remain part of it, involved in it, even at the risk of being called a collaborator.’9


After democracy came in 1994, John went on to further fame as a Constitutional Court judge.


Perhaps the most formative political event of my very early years was my parents’ decision to involve themselves in the formation of the Progressive Party in 1959. Shortly after the Cato Manor trial they committed themselves to the establishment of South Africa’s newest political force.


‘The Progs’ (as they were soon christened) were a liberal breakaway from the ossifying official opposition United Party. The breakaway issue – the reneging by the UP on its previous commitments in terms of the so-called 1936 Hertzog ‘settlement’ which provided more land for African reserves – was merely the last straw for the more enlightened wing’s determination to rupture the reactionary NP-UP duopoly.


Led by the Cape UP leader, Jannie Steytler – a Queenstown doctor, whose father had been an Anglo-Boer War hero – the Progressive ranks attracted just under a dozen of the UP’s more enlightened MPs; and, crucially, the major backing and financial support of mining tycoon and former MP, Harry Oppenheimer. Of its founding members, three – Helen Suzman, Colin Eglin and Zach de Beer – were to play immense roles in the struggle for principled opposition in South Africa over the next 30 years. Each – plus Oppenheimer – was also to have an enormous and varied role in my own (as-yet unglimpsed) political career. In short order, my father was elected the party’s Natal coastal region chairman and a member of its governing National Executive. In reality this meant he became second-in-command to its first provincial leader, former Durban mayor, Leo Boyd.


My mother, a copywriter at the Durban office of the international advertising agency, J Walter Thompson (JWT), took charge of the local publicity machine.


The Progs’ first political test came when Verwoerd decided to hold a referendum on the issue of an independent republic. In many senses this was a legal formality, since the country had enjoyed sovereignty under the Statute of Westminster for the preceding 40 years. However, symbolically, the poll was seen as the fulfilment of Afrikaner Nationalism – the volk unshackled by any overwhelming attachment to the British Crown. Since Natal had just such an attachment (as did the English throughout the country), the province returned a huge 75% ‘No’ vote. But some 52% of white South Africans supported the Republic – and it was duly declared on 31 May 1961.10


Such details were unknown to me at the time. In my final year of nursery school, I was handed a small orange, white and blue South African flag and a gold (or gold-coloured) medal, and told by a teacher to ‘put it in your satchel, because the Natives will be upset.’ The referendum was also the final form of co-operation between the UP and the Progs. Thereafter it would be a fight to the political death for the relative crumbs of the opposition vote. The contest would be most bitter in Natal.


Later in 1961, Verwoerd tapped into the prevailing republicanism and called an early election. I vaguely recall the excitement as leading figures of the Progs, such as Steytler and De Beer, came to stay. ‘You know,’ Steytler said to my father, ‘the day will come when the Nationalists will adopt the politics of our party.’ ‘Nonsense,’ argued Ramon. ‘I am quite right,’ Steytler said, ‘because I know my people.’


Steytler was both prophetic and about thirty years premature. South Africa would yet have to endure three decades of repression and struggle, vast amounts of violence and the fundamental degradation of civil liberties and human rights.


From today’s vantage the Progressive philosophy seems mild beer. The party’s key principles were defined at its inaugural congress in November 1959. They were:


• the maintenance and extension of the values of Western civilisation; the protection of fundamental human rights and the safeguarding of the dignity and worth of the human person irrespective of race, colour or creed; and


• the recognition that in the Union of South Africa there is one nation which embraces various groups differing in race, religion, language and traditions; that each such group is entitled to the protection of those things and of its right of participation in the government of the nation.


However, the National Party and its press thought otherwise. AK Heard11 summarises their response:


‘Die Transvaler [the official organ of the NP in the Transvaal] particularly decried the “one nation” concept … “If words mean anything,” it wrote, “[they mean] that this party seeks to create a new unity out of many faces. Boer, Briton, Jew, Bantu, Indian and Coloured will all form ‘one nation’ together … This is the most open and fatal point of view ever adopted by a political party in our country.”


‘A few days later, the same paper attacked the party as revolutionary: “The white man does not intend to surrender his future voluntarily; and if in the final analysis it has to be defended, he will defend it with blood.”’


It never happened. Indeed, by the time of the Progs’ formation, FW de Klerk was an enthusiastic young Nationalist member who – no doubt – vigorously agreed with the newspaper’s thundering denunciation of the ‘revolutionary’ Progressives (his father was, after all, a director of the newspaper group that published Die Transvaler). It would be him and a much-reduced National Party that would ‘surrender the future’, as the newspaper ranted.


Still, at the time of its debut, the Progressive Party crashed to defeat in its first election in 1961. It retained Houghton, which became, nearly thirty years later, the constituency that elected me to parliament at the tail-end of apartheid.
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My early years were probably similar to those of tens of thousands of other white middle-class children born in the baby-boomer years of the consumer age. We enjoyed the ‘unasked for, but unearned, apartheid dividend’, to borrow the accurate phrase of journalist Rowan Philp.12 I attended a local nursery school, where in July 1960, when I was three-and-a-half years old, the principal noted: ‘Tony has a very happy nature.’ However, I could be frustrating because my results in ‘cutting out’ and ‘painting’ were not as good as Peter’s.


My brother and I are temperamentally – and in many other ways – very different. Yet we were, and remain, very close. The nursery school noted that by the time Peter had to leave for primary school, I ‘became weepy and upset’. I have probably toughened up in the intervening 45 years, but an early characteristic I have never entirely shed was what was presciently described as a ‘not-too-long attention span’ and the fact that ‘he becomes bored quickly’.


My primary schooling commenced at Chelmsford, on the edge of Musgrave Road, the artery which snaked across the Durban Berea. I was mostly miserable – bored in class since I could already read by the time I started lessons – and somewhat terrified by our severe and forbidding headmistress, a certain Miss Sissons. For unexplained reasons (owing nothing to feminism) all our teachers, all women, taught under their maiden names.


My first report, dated 29 June 1962, described me as follows: ‘Tony is very keen and made very good progress. His mental work is better than his written work.’ The phrases ‘very untidy’ and ‘not always attentive’ would become the mantra of all my succeeding school reports. By my second year my arithmetic was ‘rather slow and unsure’; while my English was ‘excellent’. This divide, in my brain or elsewhere, would reach its zenith and nadir in my matriculation ten years hence.


When Peter went on to Clifton Preparatory School for Boys I was disconsolate. So I started agitating to go there as well; I reckon my unhappiness at being at school was initially in contrast to my huge enjoyment of being at home. In South Ridge Road we had a big garden, where I played war with my first friend, Tom Sulley. We imagined being soldiers in some faraway combat zone that we read about in our Marvel comics, on which I spent my pocket money. Sheila abhorred ‘bad literature’ – my photo comics, Enid Blyton, and ‘Classics Illustrated’ with their marvellous, bowdlerised and easily understood versions of every book and author from Jules Verne to Mark Twain.


I had the radio – Springbok Radio with its ‘serials’ in particular. But in the sixties there was no TV, no video games, no Sunday shopping, no movies, no Sunday sport (except, curiously, for soccer); just a dour Calvinism imposed on a quiescent population by a nervous government in thrall to the serried ranks of the NGK church hierarchy. There was official terror of any concession to popular culture: godless secularism from a corrupted West was to be kept at bay. Fundamentalist Nationalists were determined that shameless decadence was to be suppressed and avoided; mild girlie magazines were banned and seized at all airports; and the cabinet’s enforcer-in-chief – the goatee-bearded ultra-nationalist, Albert Hertzog – decreed TV to be the ‘devil’s box’. Political repression was meshed with joylessness.


In 1965 there were major changes. Happily, I moved to Clifton Preparatory, a private school, fairly relaxed, with small classes. Many of my friends were moulded by (in Durban standards) old money, and lived in enormous houses which made our comfortable family pile seem modest in comparison. For example, the Levy family, whose son Steven was an early friend, owned Budget Rent-a-Car; another classmate, Kevin Dawson, was the grandson of the founder of the John Orr’s department store; while another, Doug Saunders, was the son of Natal’s pre-eminent sugar baron, Chris.


For all the advantages it bestowed on those who passed through its gates, Clifton was not always an inoculator against personal failure and even extreme forms of sociopathic conduct. One of the ‘naughty boys’ in my class transmogrified in his post-school years into a member of an infamous gang of armed robbers who terrorised banks in suburban Johannesburg in the late 1970s. He was subsequently captured and convicted and was sentenced to, and served, a hefty jail sentence.


My school reports remained ambivalent. Thus, in standard five: ‘Anthony has continued to show much ability in English and in History and Geography, where his very good general knowledge can be used most effectively. Mathematics and Afrikaans need a more concentrated effort, and written and illustrated work, although enthusiastically tackled, is sometimes spoiled with careless presentation.’ The headmaster was more severe: ‘Intellectual endeavour is a strict discipline and it is obviously important for him to control, though not suppress, his laudable enthusiasms.’


In British public school culture, prowess at sport is highly esteemed. I tried. However, my very flat feet and indifferent eye-ball co-ordination meant that cricket and rugby had me exerting maximum effort and minimum talent.


An enduring memory comes from my final year at Clifton in 1970. The entire school was marched several kilometres to the Kingsmead cricket field to watch the first test between South Africa and Australia. Clifton’s most famous old boy, Barry Richards, was debuting as opening batsman for the Springboks and almost scored a century before lunch. Alas, Richards’s international cricketing career came to an abrupt and tragic end that very year. A decision by Prime Minister John Vorster to ban an MCC side from touring in 1968 – because South African-born Coloured Basil D’Oliviera was a member – precipitated our isolation from world cricket within three years. The ban was over time extended by our international competitors to most other sports.


Our headmaster, Tim Sutcliffe, was an extraordinary figure. Today we would call him a polymath – equally conversant in Maths, English and Latin. Aside from his day job he was a great actor on Springbok Radio. He and his wife starred in all the soap operas; today one also calls them celebrities.


Sutcliffe was a remarkable person, capable of acts of great kindness and instant cruelty. He once slapped me across the face several times for being rude to him; and would march us into his office in order to flog us for often very trivial reasons. Corporal punishment was freely and ferociously administered, and my punishment was generally for ‘answering back’ or ‘being cheeky’. I had a real fear and loathing of the cane; yet, oddly, my abiding recollection is of a fairly blissful environment. Even as odd, perhaps, was that my stay at Clifton commenced with a shatteringly sad and unexpected event which accompanied me like a constant, dark shadow.


In late 1965 my parents decided to divorce. My mother had met a Charlton Heston semi-lookalike, Dick Prior, a Durban yachtsman who was advertising manager for the Daily News. My mother would eventually deeply regret her impulsiveness; but for my father – a proud and essentially sensitive man – there was to be no turning back.


The practical – as opposed to emotional – consequences meant a weekly oscillation from my mother’s new home in Westville to my father’s new bachelor quarters in an apartment in Musgrave Road, where we spent every weekend. My mother’s second marriage was even less successful than her first, and while I got on very well with Dick Prior, who introduced my brother and me to the pleasures of fishing and yachting, he was a better stepfather than husband: Sheila divorced him after six fairly unhappy years.13


The other big event, the consequences of which would be felt many years later in my political career, was my father’s decision to accept an appointment as a judge in the Natal provincial division of the Supreme Court. Judicial appointments were, in those days, relatively rare: there were, for example, only 12 judges in Natal; fewer than seventy-five judges in all divisions across the entire country.


Today there has been an explosion in judicial numbers and a corresponding decline in the status of the office.


It was also the custom that if a senior advocate declined an appointment by the Minister of Justice, he was unlikely to be offered it again. As my father tells it, two factors weighed against acceptance: his liberal predilections would make the implementation of apartheid law difficult; and second, although my mother bitterly complained of the alimony from my father, the divorce agreement obliged Ramon to pay for the education of his children at private schools. His earnings as a QC were considerable; his salary as a judge would be fairly modest.


On the political issue, he believed it would be possible on occasion – as he demonstrated – to push the judicial envelope against the semi-authoritarian state. Here he had the example of some stellar liberal jurists who preceded him: Oliver Schreiner, Solly Miller, Albert Centlivres, Leopold Greenberg, Denis Fannin and Sandy Milne, for example. And my father would, shortly, be joined on the Bench of Natal by one of his closest friends, the ultra-liberal John Didcott.


As for income, my father decided that the honour and status of the position outweighed financial disadvantages. Thus on 1 January 1967 he was sworn in as the youngest (at 41) and most junior member of the Natal Supreme Court.


I began to develop a keen and precocious interest in politics. My mother took us to political meetings and functions organised by the local Progressive Party. Soon I was hooked, and the narcotic of political activism and involvement has remained a life-long habit.


At a Prog fête in 1969, at the age of 12, I met a gangly teenager with an intense and arresting manner – the chairman of the Young Progressives. His name was Bobby Godsell and he would subsequently become known as one of the country’s most significant mining chiefs (becoming in time CEO of AngloGoldAshanti). But at the time his army of young activists knocked on doors, put up posters, and did the drudge work of electioneering. Bobby signed me up and within months I was immersed in the 1970 general election campaign in the Durban constituency of Musgrave.


My family’s old friend Jannie Steytler was our candidate. His opponent, the incumbent UP MP, George Hourquebie, was colourless and undistinguished. In my childlike way, I assumed the righteousness of our cause would prevail. The United Party campaign was captured by their extraordinary slogan poster: ‘Want TV? Vote UP.’ But when the votes were counted on 22 April, Steytler was smashed. The Progressive Party kept Houghton, while the UP was returned as official opposition with 47 seats. Elsewhere the National Party garnered 117 MPs.


This, then, gave me a foretaste of many electoral false dawns. Yet if hard logic rather than youthful exuberance had been the measure, I would not have been disappointed. After all, a few years before, when Ian Smith declared UDI in Rhodesia,14 Durban cars were emblazoned with stickers declaring ‘Forward Rhodesia’, ‘Good old Smithy’, and the like. Britain’s prime minister, Harold Wilson, became a hate figure, and we seemed isolated in resolute opposition to ‘Smithy’s’ antics.


Then came a series of jolts. At the end of my primary school years at Clifton, my mother, still feebly stoking the dying embers of her marriage to Dick Prior, agreed to his request to improve his job prospects by moving to Johannesburg.


I was bitterly unhappy. My friends in Durban were moving on to various boarding schools in the Natal hinterland. We would have to leave our idyllic house in Haraldene Road, Glenwood. There would be no more afternoons on the beach. And I would miss weekends with my father – seeing him only during school holidays.


Perhaps most of all I was bitterly upset at parting with my beloved Boxer dog ‘Kimmy’, a faithful companion for six years who could not be accommodated in our new Johannesburg apartment.


And I intuited a deep malaise in Sheila’s marriage. I later learned that Dick was serially unfaithful – but in our family, when the grown-up spoke or commanded, that was the end of it. No negotiation, no turning back from an adult-decreed decision.


So then: Johannesburg. We lived in a flat opposite the Houghton golf course where, unhappily, a previous tenant had committed suicide in the main bathroom. Even this sombre augury was picayune compared with the intense culture shock waiting for me on my first day of high school at King David. My brother had already commenced his senior schooling at a Jewish school, Carmel, in Durban. It was therefore felt he would acclimatise better at a similar establishment in Johannesburg; and as the younger brother I was expected to tag along.


King David High, in Linksfield, emphasised Judaism. The variety to which I had been hitherto exposed was secular and culinary. I had learned my bar-mitzvah portion by heart off a tape recorder (then, as now, unable to speak a word of Hebrew); and while we attended, largely unwillingly, the Durban Synagogue on high and holy days, my closest acquaintance with the religion of my birth had been my enjoyment of such festive dishes as chopped herring, liver and ‘tzimmes’ (a concoction of prunes and brisket) served with loving relish by Granny Ray.


My Clifton schooling was notionally Christian, with morning renditions at assembly of the Lord’s Prayer, recited on succeeding days in English, Afrikaans and Latin. I took no part in the youth activities provided by the Durban Jewish Club, except for weekly tennis, and all my friends, with the exception of Steven Levy, were Christians. I knew Jews to be ‘different’ – but I experienced no anti-Semitism from my schoolmates, only curiosity about Judaism, about which I knew little.


When in 1967 (I was in standard three) Israel’s very existence was threatened, we all gathered around the radio for the news bulletins, and I surged with childish pride when the dashing Moshe Dayan emerged as an international hero. Sheila ensured that I learned about the Holocaust. In Five Chimneys by Olga Lengyel I read of the ‘nightmare horror of Auschwitz and Birkenau where day and night, five flaming smoke-stacks belched out the odour of burning flesh.’ I still have the battered paperback.


Had I but known, I would have realised that Durban’s Jewish Club itself was a monument of sorts to the ingrained and institutionalised anti-Semitism of my home town. It was established by benefactors of the Jewish community because Jews were not, generally, admitted for membership of the Durban or the Country Club. Such restrictions have long since gone, but the Jewish Club still stands near the beachfront.
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King David in 1971 was bewildering, like arriving in a foreign country. I had little in common with the boys in my class, who had an easy confidence and in-group attitude. Daily prayers, which we were obliged to attend, struck me as bizarre and ritualistic. We had to ‘lay tefillin’ which meant strapping two boxes of biblical verses to your arm and head – regarded by Orthodox Jews as an essential element of the morning prayer service. I was also obliged to attend Hebrew classes; and the headmaster was an irascible man, Norman Sandler, who early on decided I was one of several candidates who required ‘sorting out’. That meant more lashings.


I was not comfortable in an exclusively Jewish school. I identified, later in life, with the famous British politician Lord Keith Joseph who on being asked, ‘What sort of Jew are you?’ responded: ‘Minimally practising, but maximally acknowledging.’


Towards the end of my brief stay at the school, I was most uneasy when we assembled to listen to visiting Israeli intelligence chief General Chaim Herzog (later president of Israel). The flowery introduction of the chairman of the school board embarrassed me. With great solemnity he pronounced: ‘We regard the twenty acres of the King David schools complex as being God’s twenty acres of holy chosen ground.’ No doubt if I had stuck it out, my schooling there would have ended happily: among my closest university friends were Diane Levy, Laurence Kaplan and Brian Schneider; and all had been at Jewish day schools.


During a school vacation that I spent with my father in Durban, Steven Levy spoke with wonder and excitement of his first months at the Natal boarding school, Kearsney. Particularly impressive was his account of the length of the school holidays. (He omitted to tell me this was compensated for by attending school every Saturday morning.) So I began canvassing both my parents for a transfer; they agreed.


Kearsney, affiliated to the Methodist Church, is situated on rambling grounds at Botha’s Hill – close to the scenic Valley of a Thousand Hills. It is almost equidistant between Durban and the provincial capital of Pietermaritzburg, and is on the route of the Comrades Marathon, South Africa’s most famous road race.


The school was founded in 1921 as Kearsney House, near Stanger on the Natal north coast, by Sir James Liege Hulett – Natal’s original sugar baron and founder of the eponymous sugar corporation Huletts. The name ‘Kearsney’ is apparently derived from an old village and medieval manor near Dover in Kent. This is a clue to its educational ethos: deeply, almost reverentially, influenced by the English public school tradition. In many ways a sort of Victorian or Edwardian spirit still held sway.


Even primogeniture had its place: the headmaster during my Kearsney years, James Hulett Hopkins (known universally as ‘Jimmy’ or ‘Hoppy’), was the great-grandson of the founder. He was a decent and humane man, although extraordinarily conservative.


‘Character’ was all, and sport and its traditions were seen as the best way of moulding it. Many years before I arrived at the school, one of my father’s colleagues, Justice Frank Broome, reflected on a similar institution of his youth:


‘Boys were told to play the game; unethical conduct was described as “not cricket”; selfishness was rebuked as not playing for the side; sexual immorality was condemned as undermining physical fitness. And the system worked well, except that the deification of physical prowess tended to embitter the intellectual and unathletic and make of them the communists and racists or cranks of the future.’15


If the Duke of Wellington really did say that ‘the Battle of Waterloo was won on the playing fields of Eton’, it’s noteworthy it was not in the classroom, or the library, but on the sports field that character was supposedly forged.


With this ethos went the usual attributes of the public school. Elements of what Broome described at Hilton in the 1930s were still evident in 1970s Kearsney. Thus bullying was common, and corporal punishment institutionalised.


There was a macabre weekly ritual known as the ‘hit parade’. If you committed an infraction (such as leaving your socks out of the laundry locker or, my usual offence, ‘talking after lights-out’) your name was recorded by a prefect and on Thursday night after prep you ended up with your fellow offenders outside the door of the junior common room. Inside, the head prefect (who generally seemed twice your size) made you bend your head under a desk while he took a run at your exposed backside and belted it with what was euphemistically called a ‘flogging slipper’ – a thick piece of floppy leather with a hard handle.


The pain was mind-numbingly searing and the humiliation extreme. The big test was whether you could emerge with your dignity intact, walking, not running; shaken perhaps, but never crying. I sometimes failed that test.


Other elements of ‘school tradition’ now seem to me arcane in the extreme. We had to learn by heart the names of the members of the school’s 1st cricket XI or 1st rugby XV, depending on the season. Juniors (those in the first three forms) had to keep both blazer buttons fastened and could not put their hands in their pockets. As for ‘fagging’, once every few weeks a junior was assigned to a house prefect as a sort of domestic servant. For seven days you rose before the school bell, which rang grimly at 6 am, winter and summer, got dressed, woke up the prefect, made his bed and tidied his room; and then, after breakfast, carried his books to class.


Yet Kearsney did practise a form of egalitarianism: we were not allowed civilian clothes on the basis that boys from modest homes (scholarship boys or those granted the fee discounts offered to sons of Methodist ministers) might be ‘shown up’.


However, this exclusionary rule extended to a ban on radios and other home comforts. In fact, despite some boys from fabulously wealthy backgrounds, the pre-eminence or financial standing of your parents made little impact on your place in the school food chain. Another privation was extremely limited ‘home leave’. We were kept in school for all term weekends, except for one long weekend and two ‘free Sundays’. Parents were allowed to visit on Saturday afternoons. I still remember my father (and occasionally my mother) arriving at the school in his grey Rover, with a much welcome spit-roasted chicken, which my friends and I would devour hungrily – a weekly respite from the grim boarding school fare which consisted of such delights as curried eggs, a grey-looking mince concoction, or powdered scrambled eggs.


Status was largely sports-driven, though Kearsney made space for other attributes. Dramatic productions, trips to view rock art in the Drakensberg, and photography were encouraged. I tried public speaking. The school had a mock parliament, divided into government and opposition; and in my matric year (1974) I became ‘Leader of the Opposition’.


Not only did my natural talent in debating assist my later career, it compensated for my singular lack of prowess on the sports field. Boys were roughly divided into the ‘main okes’ and those generally disparaged as ‘naffs’. My performance at the podium – and in winning all the public speaking cups and contests in the school – helped me move into the coveted membership of the first group. At school, as in life, it helped to have some or other distinguishing attribute; yet friends were crucial.


As for the masters, some were genuinely inspirational. Our English teacher, Clyde Broster, was one. In the third form, one of our setworks was Cry, the Beloved Country, and he used the fabled work as a template for an intense political discussion on the current racial order and its devastating consequences. At the time Paton lived at Botha’s Hill, just outside the college grounds. He spoke once to our matric class, and while, in Conor Cruise O’Brien’s memorable phrase, he somewhat resembled ‘an angry baboon’, his talk was one of grace and passion.


We ridiculed Clyde Broster (behind his back) for his peculiar hairstyle – and nicknamed him ‘Ziggy Stardust’ after one of David Bowie’s incarnations. Yet his articulate and empathetic method of instruction still stands today like a rock in my memory. And then there was our physical science teacher, MA Thiselton, known universally, and with awe, as ‘Mat’. He dealt out fearsome beatings; yet, paradoxically and perhaps unusually in such a conservative school setting, Mat was an unashamed political liberal. One day when our standard seven class had performed with its usual lack of distinction, Mat flung the exercise books on the floor and shouted: ‘You are over-privileged and undeserving. Look at the opportunities you have. There are black children in this country who would give their left testicles to enjoy the sort of education you have and which you so dismally squander.’


The class gasped, not so much at the racial point he was making – unusual though it was at the time – but at his explicit reference to the sexual organ, much discussed by schoolboys, but never by the masters.


I was deeply unhappy and thoroughly miserable in my first year to eighteen months. We lived in barrack-like dormitories, subject to bizarre rituals and endless bullying; some seriously sadistic seniors did much to aggravate my sense of homesickness and alienation. Nearly thirty-five years later, I still associate Sundays with maudlin gloominess. The college was particularly grey and sombre in winter when the mists of Botha’s Hill would envelop the school. On the rare Sundays we were allowed home, a few hours of intense pleasure in Durban would rapidly give way to mounting depression as I readied myself to go back to school. However, since I, rather than my parents, had elected to become a boarder, I was determined to stick it out and hoped for an improvement in the overall bleakness.


The change came in the fourth form, my penultimate year. Suddenly, or so it seemed, I had a whole group of ‘main oke’ friends; and one must suppose that boarding school was useful preparation for the pitiless rigours awaiting me, especially on the sometimes hard benches of opposition politics. But I can’t help but think that adding a necessary hard carapace onto my sensitivities and vulnerabilities as a child also led to the disappearance of something quite vital and important.


I also became friendly with the rebels, who had a penchant for breaking the rules, bunking out of school grounds, or misusing officially sanctioned outings into the Valley of a Thousand Hills for the purposes of smoking or even drinking. Disastrously, given its deleterious impact on my health later, I became a keen charter member of the ‘smokers’ club’. Smoking was illicit – so, in my contrarian way, I greatly enjoyed, at 16, indulging and, unlike Bill Clinton, inhaling.


As always, we and those we know often walk in the dark.


One of my ‘naughtiest’ friends at school was Chris Stemmler, whose father was a well-known Durban society doctor. Chris enjoyed living life on the edge. Shortly after we matriculated, he joined the South African Police as an alternative to compulsory military training; one night a suspect, with whom he was alone in a patrol car, shot him with his own service revolver. He was the first person I knew who would die in such a violent manner. Unfortunately, he was not the last.


My other friends included Peter Crossley, Rob Nathan, Peter Forsyth, Steve du Toit, Gappy Smythe; my old Clifton connections, Steven Levy and Mark Witney; and a host of others. Some of those friendships remain intact to this day. Outside school I socialised with a diverse cast of characters – Debbie Goldberg, Mandy Levy, Jeremy Schmahmann and Gavin Varejes – these too have proved to be enduring relationships.


We would spend hours at school, often whispering deep into the night, discussing our personal futures and the country’s direction. Those of us with a liberal, non-racial perspective were in the distinct minority. The majority were fairly reactionary – they could not imagine a country in which black people governed; their minds were full of the darkest foreboding about ‘savage’ revenge being meted out to the whites – and some actually viewed blacks as being congenitally incapable of governing. I am sure that today they have accommodated themselves to the new order – a remarkable fact about South Africa, a transition not all multiethnic countries have managed.
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In 1972, in my second year, my father’s judicial office led to me acquiring the nickname ‘Judge’. This had little to do with my friends being impressed with high office or parental titles, since they profoundly and splendidly were not. It had much more to do with the one commodity pubescent boys in a monastic environment obsess about and have only derivative knowledge of – sex.


The most popular legal publication to which many boys subscribed was a peculiarly indigenous creation called Scope magazine; it contained scantily clad centrefolds, the wrath of the censorship regime placated by the minimum apparel over the forbidden bits of the female anatomy. The school was opposed to such prurient filth; one speech day the head lamented ‘the collapse of moral standards’. The Kearsney tradition of neatness and good manners ‘had to be protected against such inroads.’16


In truth, of course, the boys were desperate to be part of the ‘permissive society’: hence the massive enjoyment of Scope, Playboy-lite, of which our supply was permanently threatened when, in May 1972, the Publications Control Board banned an edition of the magazine. Far worse was the censor board’s decision to ‘ban all future editions’ of the periodical. The matter came before my father as an urgent application. Bannings could then be appealed to the judiciary.


It emerged that one of the main grounds for the banning was the large photograph of ‘a non-white shirtless young man embracing a white girl openly in what appears to be a street in Greenwich Village, New York, where, as was stated in the accompanying caption, it was “with it” among young folks to spoon across the colour line.’17


I had never heard the word ‘spoon’ (nuzzle and kiss) in such a context. At any rate, the magazine had conjoined the two great no-no’s of 1970s South Africa – sex and race – in one revealing photograph. Hence the lifelong ban. The reasons for the prohibition that the court squeezed out of the Publications Board appear today risible; but they provide insight into the mind, such as it was, of official South Africa at the time.


In essence, the Board’s thinking was along these lines:


‘[Youth], both white and non-white, is prone, if not eager, to follow trends of licence and promiscuity current in other places, and they may very well be encouraged herein by such an open example of what is described as being “with it” to disregard the provisions of the Immorality Act …


‘The photo of the white girl and the Negro is objectionable in that it portrays intimacy between black and white persons … It is harmful to public morals in that the photos [deal] in an improper manner with scant or inadequate dress and physical poses. It is calculated to stimulate sexual desire in the male youth by means of these suggestive poses … These provocative photos are considered to be indecent or obscene and likely to deprave or corrupt minds of young people.’


The Board was certainly correct about Scope using pictures to stimulate sexual desire in males generally – but it was arguable whether Scope itself caused the phenomenon. My father, himself pretty strait-laced, though not naïve, had to pick through this zealous officialese to decide how ‘a substantial number of likely readers’ would react. He said: ‘[It] is not irrelevant to observe that attitudes have changed towards the human body and the method of dress employed to cover it to a lesser or greater extent.’


He was equally dismissive of the Board’s view on the corrupting effect of the offending picture: ‘I regard the views of the Board on this point as being far-fetched in the extreme. It is, I consider, important to bear in mind that the photograph depicts an event in New York, and not one in Johannesburg … The photograph is merely a pictorial representation of a fact of life in another country … How this can be said to be an encouragement to the youth of this country to commit criminal offences [is quite] beyond my comprehension.’


He similarly dismissed the Board’s argument concerning photographs of ‘partially exposed breasts’ and ‘some exposure of the human body’. He threw out its argument and set aside the Board’s declaration of Scope as an undesirable publication. So Dad struck a blow for free expression and inadvertently boosted my standing among my much-relieved peers, whose supply of Scope would now continue!


More serious consequences of this judgment would soon be felt. The Nationalists paid lip-service to an independent judiciary; but did not enjoy being thwarted by it, especially not by the more enlightened English-speaking Bench in Natal. Within 18 months an amending statute was rammed through parliament, the Publication and Entertainments Bill. It simply removed the right of appeal from decisions of the Publications Control Board to the Supreme Court.


When Abba hit the hit parade for the first time – with ‘Waterloo’ – in 1974, I entered my final year at school. In public life it was another year of a proclaimed change in government policy – relying essentially on the windy rhetoric of the NP tub-thumper, Pik Botha, then in full flight as ambassador to the United Nations. In one of his dramatic but ultimately empty speeches to the Security Council he said, ‘South Africa will do everything in its power to move away from discrimination based on race or colour.’ He would ‘not die for an apartheid sign in the lift.’


Aside from such bombast, there had been some minor easing of ‘petty apartheid’, but this was virtually on the absolute fringe. Thus, during the school holidays in Johannesburg, my mother took us to the Koffiehuis restaurant at the new five-star Carlton hotel in Johannesburg – designated an ‘international hotel’ which allowed multiracial dining. That, and the desegregation of certain parks and libraries, represented the horizon of change.


We also had a certain hopeful expectancy when Prime Minister Vorster ventured onto the bridge at the Victoria Falls and met the Zambian leader, Kenneth Kaunda, to convene talks in a railway carriage between the warring parties in Rhodesia. The sight of the dour epitome of apartheid co-hosting a gathering of his prime ally Ian Smith with the dread terrorists (as they were routinely depicted) led by Joshua Nkomo created expectations that were not fulfilled for another six bloody years there, and only 16 years later in South Africa.


The one event that did profoundly change the entire political landscape was the coup in Portugal. Within months this signalled the end of the oldest colonial empire on the continent and, as the Kearsney Chronicle noted, ‘moved the border of black Africa 1 000 miles southward from the Ruvuma to the Pongola.’


Our matric year was accordingly profoundly unsettled, since we could now look at our call-up papers for military service the following year. The incipient civil war in Angola, in the wake of the abrupt Portuguese flight, would escalate and ensnare many young conscripts within the next two years.


Of more immediacy was the 1974 election, which completely dominated my Easter holidays. I immersed myself as a 17-year-old activist in the Houghton seat (where we lived) of the party’s mega (and perhaps only) star, Helen Suzman. Helen’s re-election was assured; but so was the NP’s certainty of winning its 7th consecutive election by a large margin. For us, the critical factor was whether the United Party would begin to reflect in its returns the desiccation that had enveloped its internal structures.


The antagonists were a reformist young Turk faction led by the newly installed Transvaal leader, Harry Schwarz, and the conservative mainstream rump led by the party chief, Sir de Villiers Graaff. Without proper justification, Graaff and his coterie were probably seen by the Young Progressives as a sort of prime evil – Vorster and the Nats being beyond the pale. But because of the intensity of the intra-opposition fight, and after 13 long and unyielding years in the political desert, some hope and stirrings of a Prog breakthrough out of Houghton could be entertained.


I enjoyed the juvenile dirty tricks in which we indulged: pulling down UP posters and going to call-boxes to ring all the opposition office telephone numbers and then leaving the phones off the hook. Beyond our electioneering and silly pranks, there was genuine outrage at how the UP had finally sold the pass on civil liberties.


The American constitutionalist, Benjamin Franklin, had famously observed 200 years before that ‘those who would give up essential liberty, to purchase a little temporary safety, deserve neither liberty nor safety.’ Well, the UP had so temporised, and in our view deserved the political bullet.


Rage was precipitated by the UP’s participation in one of government’s political star-chambers: the Parliamentary Internal Security Commission (instantly dubbed by the opposition press as ‘Piscom’, or the ‘Schlebusch Commission’ after its NP chairman). Its findings led to the banning of eight student leaders of the leftist National Union of South African Students (Nusas), whom the Commission branded as ‘traitors, guilty of providing support for terrorist groups’. Without due process or any shred of justiciable evidence, the leadership was effectively house-arrested and the organisation severely restricted.


With some of my fellow Young Progs I attended the rallies of our opponents – real eye-openers. The NP gathering at the Johannesburg City Hall introduced me to a white South Africa of which I had read and heard, but never actually seen. Thousands of Afrikaans-speaking whites assembled; the massive stage organ ground out various patriotic anthems; and our small coterie of fresh-faced northern suburbanites felt utterly intimidated and totally alien.


The hall lights were dimmed and the crowd broke into paroxysms of joy and rapture when Vorster entered and addressed his enthralled supporters. I remember nothing of what he said; but it was spoken slowly, loudly, effectively and menacingly. In Natal Afrikaans was poorly understood and certainly undertaught; we left wondering if we shared the same value system, and country, as the faithful.


Then there was a UP meeting in Greenside addressed by their star reformist provincial leader, Schwarz. I went determined to despise him, but came away secretly impressed. A powerful orator, Schwarz did what clever lawyers always do: he played up his strongest arguments, ignored the gaping holes in his own flank, and bore in on the enemy’s weakness. Strangely enough – because it struck such a chord – I still remember him mocking the Progressive Party for its moral hypocrisy. I did make a mental note that he was never to be underestimated.


To my intense dismay I had to return to boarding school ten days before the election on 24 April. The kindly Pembroke House matron, Mrs Higham, knowing – as did the whole school, apparently – of my intense interest in the outcome, lent me her transistor radio. While my schoolmates slept, I stayed up the whole night cheering silently as one UP bastion after another fell to a resurgent Progressive team, led by Colin Eglin. In objective terms, the UP only lost six seats to the Progressives (who added a seventh soon after in a by-election). But in the more important political world of perceptions, the UP slide soon became an avalanche.


Within a year Schwarz led a reformist breakaway into a merger with the Progressives. By 1977 the Progressive Reform Party (as the merged entity became) ousted the UP as the official opposition. In fact, shortly before that election, the UP disbanded into a renamed New Republic Party. Many years later, when the once-mighty NP faced electoral immolation at the hands of the party which I then led, it too tried to rebrand itself by adding the prefix ‘new’ to its name – proving that cosmetic changes and marginal tinkering cannot arrest political sclerosis.


I received a warm letter of thanks for my efforts from Helen Suzman, who added, no doubt as a throwaway line to as ardent a fan as me, ‘It’s good to be back in parliament with Progressive colleagues … perhaps one day you will join us there.’


I was soon distracted (with no particular difficulty) by the suggestion of one of my schoolmasters that I enter the prestigious inter-schools debating competition, the Jan Hofmeyr Speech Contest. I needed no persuasion. I chose from a list, as my setpiece speech, ‘Jan Hofmeyr – Moralist and Statesman’. As I delved into his extraordinary achievements and politics, I had difficulty in imagining that such a prodigious genius had been at the centre of political life in South Africa just over a generation ago.


Born into an eminent Cape Afrikaans family, Hofmeyr was indeed a boy wonder: he matriculated at 12; had a Bachelor of Arts in the sciences at 16 (he attended the University of Cape Town in short pants); obtained the degree of Master of Arts at 17; and a degree from Balliol was conferred on him at the tender age of 21. Just three years later he became principal of Wits University (then the Johannesburg School of Mines); and in 1924 at 29 he was appointed by Jan Smuts as the Administrator of the Transvaal.18


During the Second World War, as Smuts’s deputy prime minister, he was responsible for seven cabinet portfolios. He apparently memorised his speeches, holding the pages behind his back and turning them over as he – from memory – completed a page. However, he apparently had no private life to speak of and was ruled by his possessive mother. As his biographer Alan Paton noted:


‘Two personal relationships to a large extent ruled his life. His attitude to Smuts was ambivalent: sometimes he came close to veneration and sometimes close to hostility. Hofmeyr was like a great hill under a great mountain. He was 24 years younger than Smuts yet he died two years earlier. He had in fact spent his life as Smuts’s lieutenant, and in Smuts’s shadow.’


Paton asks the question which, years after Hofmeyr’s death at the young age of 53, remains unknowable: ‘If Hofmeyr had outlived Smuts, would he have become prime minister? He had two great handicaps. One was his liberalism, which frightened and antagonised white South Africa. The other was his phenomenal childhood and boyhood, and the possessiveness of his mother. This was the second personal relationship that to such an extent ruled his life.’


At its height, the United Party was – as Paton remarks – led by ‘two of the most gifted Afrikaners of their time. Geniuses in fact.’19


I loved the contest; the debates, the extempore speeches (which each contestant had to deliver in addition to the set pieces) and, most of all, landing up in the finals as the first Kearsney boy to so qualify.


I didn’t win, and ended up – bitterly disappointed – in second place.


As the school magazine records it: ‘Kearsney’s entrant, Anthony Leon, was faced with the ordeal of having to speak before his own school fellows and staff, which appeared to make him more nervous than usual. He spoke on perhaps the most difficult topic, a history of the life of Jan Hofmeyr, and acquitted himself admirably. Unfortunately he attempted a little too much in his impromptu speech, speaking on “being selective about comic strips”.’


As a compensation the school jointly awarded me the trophy for ‘cultural leadership’ (together with my friend Peter Crossley) and school colours. It was ‘not done’ to express too much disappointment; but I was angry at not winning and still, in that sullen teenage way, resented that I had not become a school prefect at the beginning of the year. As the famous American college football coach Henry ‘Red’ Sanders (later plagiarised by Richard Nixon) put it: ‘Winning isn’t everything, it’s the only thing.’


Strange, therefore, that my passion for winning did not embrace – indeed, by-passed – my studies for the matriculation examination which determined entry into university and was the real point of 12 years of schooling. Most of my school subjects bored me, and I had an almost fatalistic nonchalance about how to overcome my scholastic nemesis of mathematics.


I was further distracted by my father’s decision, the same year, to remarry. His new wife Jacqueline was a cultural shock to us all: she was a beautiful French Mauritian. And she had definite ideas about where and how teenage boys fitted into the pecking order. I found her sudden presence in my father’s – and our family’s – life strange and initially alienating. Like some of the ingredients in one of her more exotic culinary concoctions we were not, initially, an easy mix. However, my father was totally smitten, and after a fairly solitary decade was delighted to be married again.


Over time – and notwithstanding a few fiery clashes – I grew exceptionally fond of Jacqueline, who was not simply supportive of my father through various vicissitudes, but from inception actively encouraged my political career. She died suddenly in November 1996 (my father believes needlessly) and remains warmly remembered and much cherished.


I acquired not only a stepmother, but a burgeoning social life. During holidays we would walk to the beach, spend the day in the sun, buy a hamburger and coke at the Cuban Hat on the North Beach for 30 cents, and catch the bus home for 12 cents. It was cheap to enjoy life. We would party at one another’s homes to meet girls. We listened, endlessly, to the ‘Cold Fact’ album of the smart cynical singer Rodriguez, and the more romantic ballads of the pop groups Bread and The Strawbs, then in their ascendancy. Durban even had a disco – ‘Dorian’s’ – at the swanky beachfront Edward hotel.


Nonetheless, through my precocious political involvement and obsessive reading of the daily Durban newspaper the Mercury I gained some knowledge of events unfolding outside the cloistered confines of Kearsney and our enjoyable, but no doubt banal, social life. I learned that Ahmed Timol, a Muslim teacher, had, in my first year in high school, fallen to his death in suspicious circumstances, from the tenth floor of John Vorster Square, the Johannesburg headquarters of the South African Police. His was the 17th – but by no means the last – death in detention (inevitable, given the battery of security legislation promulgated to suppress black resistance after the bloody repression of the Sharpeville demonstration of 1961).


Perhaps more immediately, since it was spawned in Natal, I read with close interest of the 1973 strikes in the local textile industries, triggered by the near-starvation wages of the workers. This event had profound and lasting consequences for the revival of the trade union movement which was to play such a decisive (or as Marxists put it, a ‘vanguard’) role in the struggle ahead. Vorster made the extraordinary admission that the black strikers were ‘human beings with souls’.


None of these events being sketched – and rewritten – on the increasingly bloodied and turbulent palimpsest of South Africa were to be gleaned from the history syllabus then being drummed into us at school. The rather anodyne History for Standard Nine and Ten by AN Boyce contained within its pages reams about ‘the causes of the Great Trek’ and ‘the arrival of the 1820 English Settlers and its consequences’, but precious little of the real and genuinely burning issues which were stalking the country and which would engulf it shortly after we left school.


All these extracurricular readings and activities had a disastrous effect on my preparations for the looming matric exams. I did exceedingly poorly, failing both mathematics and biology. I was blown away when the results arrived at Sheila’s apartment in Johannesburg. She was upset; I was disheartened; my father was furious.


I was immediately recalled to Ramon’s house in Durban and told that my feckless and undisciplined attitude was the cause of my woes and would have to be redressed in supplementary examinations three months hence. I deeply resented my father’s attitude then – but have remained grateful to him ever since for snapping me out of my hitherto casual approach to life and learning. I also received a letter of support from our family’s close friend, Shirley Eskapa – by then a well-known novelist living in London. She wrote, ‘Let adversity be your spur.’ I took that to heart.


Under my father’s watchful eye, I enrolled in the local cram college, Damelin, and was forbidden social contacts between Monday and Saturday afternoon. I set about correcting my self-inflicted failure. The foolhardy and misplaced confidence which accompanied me into the original exams gave way to an anxious but determined discipline. In the event, I raised my marks overall by 20% and achieved the university entrance certificate which had previously eluded me.


The net effect of this unpleasant diversion was negligible: once I had been called up to the army for 18 months’ national service in July, I could only start university in 1977.


Although I spent fewer than four years at boarding school, there is more than a kernel (perhaps, indeed, a boulder) of truth in the adage that while I ‘left Kearsney behind, it never really left me.’ Almost a generation later, in August 2003, I was invited back to the school at Botha’s Hill to address the 75th Anniversary Dinner of its Old Boys’ Club. Of course the school had physically and attitudinally changed out of all recognition. It was modern and comfortable, and reflected the opulent circumstances of most of its young ‘customers’. The Dickensian dining hall and the bleak, institutional dormitories of my youth had disappeared. The culture of physical punishment – now taboo – had given way to an authority more based on reason and persuasion. It had also – most notably and praiseworthily – shed its uniracial character and was now genuinely non-racial in its student body.


But to me – not Kearsney’s greatest scholar and certainly no sports star – what school had helped inculcate was a set of values. In part, I said this: ‘In South Africa, we have overturned an odious system that made race the basis of elite membership. Today, when we look around at the few that have become rich and the many that remain poor, we see that a new upper class is forming on the basis of wealth alone. But if South Africa is to excel, we must embrace a social vision that rewards excellence, hard work, and virtue …


‘We need to set standards and expect them to be met. Kearsney is living proof that some ways of doing things might change over time, but that others cannot. Our most important change here is the increasingly non-racial character of the school. But when it comes to learning, and integrity, and character, Kearsney has always stood for the notion that there is a right way and a wrong way. We cannot dismiss this fundamental truth, or brush it aside for reasons of political correctness or even propaganda.’
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After my examination detour I returned to Johannesburg, to fill in the four months before my military call-up. Sheila had by then trained as a producer and researcher for the SABC, then about to launch South Africa’s much-delayed, much-anticipated television service. Her home, which I was to share for the next five years or so, was a meeting point of sorts for many of the guinea pigs – members of Johannesburg’s and Cape Town’s artistic and intellectual communities – around whom she structured her programmes before the official launch of the service in 1976. Many of them became firm friends of hers, particularly the satirist Adam Leslie; the theatre impresario Pieter Toerien; the radio broadcaster Wouter de Wet; and the academic David Welsh.


My mother’s customary cultural ambivalence and intellectual doublethink reached its zenith during her TV years, which lasted until heart disease took its toll in 1987 and she retired prematurely. On the one hand she loathed the NP government, and her particular bête noire were the grey-shoed bureaucrats and Broederbonders who swelled the ranks of SABC directors. She disparaged them with piercing put-downs, much to the amusement of her ‘chums’. On the other hand, she loved the entrée to a more stimulating and professional world that her new-found TV cachet granted her.


I used the gap between school and the army to work as a junior organiser in the Southern Transvaal head office of the Progressives. I was put in charge of the organisation – such as it was – of the party’s fledgling structures in Hillbrow and Von Brandis (the CBD area). In truth, I was also used as an all-purpose gofer; and my unswerving youthful belief that the Progressive philosophy was right meant that no task was too menial, no job beyond my enthusiasm.


The office was headed by Peter Soal with humour and guile; he later became an MP. I found myself on occasion handing out refreshments to journalists being briefed by the party boss Colin Eglin on his return from a foray into Africa; or counting the bottles after a function at the opulent estate of Gordon Waddell, the immensely wealthy MP for Johannesburg North. The party was also in the midst of awkward negotiations with the Schwarz faction of the UP. Schwarz’s disagreements with Graaff and the UP establishment had led to his expulsion, and he and a group of like-minded ‘reformists’ (including Douglas Gibson) had founded the Reform Party. Clearly, they and the Progressives needed an accommodation, although there was much bad blood and personal enmity between the personalities in both formations.


Down in the bowels of the party, as it were, I discovered that the Progressive Party – for all its virtues and political coherence – had an unattractive side. It consisted of several personalities who exuded an exclusionary snobbishness and moral superiority which grated and alienated those outside their magic circle.


In some ways, the party operated as a political extension of an Anglo-Jewish social club, with much of its activist membership drawn from a narrow social base in the leafy northern suburbs of Johannesburg and the southern suburbs of Cape Town.


While it had certainly (to its electoral cost) held the ring – morally at least – against the Nationalist juggernaut, it too had temporised and compromised core convictions to stay in business. Notably, by the time of my employment, 14 years after its foundation, neither Helen Suzman nor the party had embraced the cause of universal franchise. It had also decided to carry on operations (in 1969) when the government decreed that no political party could have mixed-race membership. To comply with the provisions of the Prohibition of Political Interference Act, the Progressives purged their membership rolls of all African, Indian and Coloured supporters. The Liberal Party stuck to its principles and exited the political arena.


This is why I am still angered, after all these years, by those who wish to score a point against the DA, or me personally, by incorrectly suggesting that the Progressive Party was an outpost of ideological and political purity. The organisation made significant compromises and concessions to the political climate in which it operated. It trimmed its sails; and the same was true of its successors.


In a speech in Houghton in 2006, I drew attention to the fact that the opposition project had been consistently faced with ‘fateful choices’. In 1983, for example, the PFP (as the Progs became) campaigned against the introduction of the Tricameral parliament, which excluded black participation, yet went on to serve in it. My conclusion: ‘[The] history of the Progressive Party that we rightly celebrate is not that of a pristine political priesthood, but of a political party that had to make pragmatic ideological compromises in order to stay competitive and relevant.’


My practical involvement in the looming merger with the reformists was slight, but comic. Peter Soal said the party leadership needed to be better informed about the thinking inside the Schwarz camp – so he obtained a Reform Party membership card for me, and I enrolled so that I could attend one of its regional council meetings in northern Johannesburg. I was duly despatched with a tape recorder, on which I taped the proceedings, and gave them to Soal at party headquarters for dissemination.


In the end, the Progressive and Reform parties merged in July 1975 in Johannesburg under the name of The South African Progressive Reform Party (PRP). Eglin became leader of the merged entity, and Schwarz chairman of its National Executive. It thus held 11 seats in the 171-member House of Assembly. In September 1977, the PRP ranks were augmented by a further breakaway from the UP. Veteran politician Japie Basson led that group which duly merged with the PRP to become the Progressive Federal Party (PFP). It became the official opposition in the general election three months later, with 17 seats.


All too soon I found myself at Milner Park station, then opposite Wits University, nervously awaiting embarkation with hundreds of other conscripts. Our destination was the military establishment of Potchefstroom in the western Transvaal. My call-up for basic training was to the 14th Field Artillery Regiment there.


Boarding school had been a picnic.


The rigours and privations visited on the unsuspecting ‘troopies’, as the new intake was branded, were severe. Military service for white males, over eighteen, was de rigueur. The End Conscription Campaign which advocated non-compliance with the call-up was launched only a decade later. So the only escape was to defer service – then possible in terms of the law – until completing university studies. My father, peremptory on such matters, indicated that this was not an option: he predicted, accurately, that if we deferred our service on leaving school, we would face a military stint of far longer duration in a far more hostile environment. So we went.


‘Potch’ was a dusty field in the Afrikaans heartland – the place where the first shots were fired in 1880 in the first Anglo-Boer War. It was also the place where the Vierkleur, emblem of the South African Republic, was first designed and hoisted.


None of this was of the slightest interest to me. Surviving basic training in the bitingly cold, alien environment topped my personal agenda. The camp, such as it was, was new and had no permanent structures. We were accommodated in dozens of khaki tents dotted around the bone-dry parade grounds. There were no ablution facilities to speak of; a mobile shower unit was provided every second day; and we waited nearly a week for our regulation brown uniform and marching boots.


From early morning to night we were harried by undereducated and over-sadistic NCOs – corporals and sergeant-majors – whose terms of greetings and endearment always commenced with the Afrikaans word fok (fuck), as in fok jou, fok julle, kry fokken rigting, and other niceties.


I knew no one at the camp. Fortunately my first Saturday coincided with the running of the annual July Handicap in Durban. During my years at Kearsney, and inspired by Grandpa Jack’s lifelong encyclopaedic knowledge of horse racing, I had become something of a self-taught expert on equine matters (I could recite in consecutive order all the winners of ‘the July’ from the year of my birth onwards).


On July Day, 1975, I encountered a group of fellow rookies (newly conscripted ‘grunts’) clustered around a transistor radio. They were sons of bookmakers or had worked in and around racing and bookmaking enterprises; and they became my first army friends. Having spent my entire life mixing with children from my own English-speaking middle-class milieu, the army proved a great and jolting leveller. We might as well have been from different planets. Interestingly, the July was won that day, on an objection, by Principal Boy, owned by Harry and Bridget Oppenheimer.


One of our first tasks was to familiarise ourselves with the 25-pounder cannon, a Second World War special. Seven or eight of us had to lug this monster up and down the hills – and the ‘25 pounds’ referred to the weight of the projectile, not the gun, which (to us) weighed about the same as a VW Beetle.


The best feature of the camp was its exit, and the highway to Johannesburg and Pretoria. For once I was hugely advantaged by my flat feet, which had impeded my schoolboy sports career but now saved me from hideous exercises. These feet turned up in my medical examination, which included such standard humiliations as having my testicles squeezed with the demand that I ‘hoes’ (cough). The doctor declared: ‘Daardie plat voete van jou is niks werd nie’ (‘Those flat feet will take you nowhere’). He promptly marked my card as ‘G4’ – medically unfit for training. Joy.


Eventually (I recall it took about two weeks of processing), I was batched with dozens of other physically challenged servicemen (and no small number of malingerers who had successfully hoodwinked the authorities) and boarded a train for Pretoria. Here our basic training occurred in the less-severe confines of Diensvakskool in Voortrekkerhoogte.20


My brother had completed his own military service in 1974 working at the Defence Force magazine Paratus, and was now studying at the University of Cape Town. He requested his former commanding officer to get me a posting there; and certainly a job at Paratus looked like the nirvana of all military alternatives. I embellished my very modest role as the Kearsney editor of a private schools’ newspaper, and applied for a slot at the periodical. After three months of drilling, endless inspections and the other mind-crushing banalities of basic training, I was indeed posted there.


The magazine operated out of a building in downtown Pretoria, where we were dumped each morning from a Bedford truck from the Wonderboom military camp where most of the troopies assigned to work in Pretoria were housed.


Wonderboom was pretty awful. It also accommodated the military police with their complement of some seriously dodgy, if not deranged, individuals. A night or two after arriving at the camp, one of the MPs, apparently high on drugs or alcohol – or both – attempted to commit suicide by slitting his wrists in a toilet. He was unsuccessful: but the camp commander’s response was to remove all the doors of the toilets, with delightful consequences for all of us henceforth answering nature’s call.


Paratus itself was interesting – and revealing. It was one of the few units where certain skills could be acquired that might later be of some use. According to my later political detractors, it was at Paratus that I became a propaganda supremo in service against the ‘total onslaught’ of apartheid’s enemies. (More of that in a moment.) The reality was that I learned to type; after a writer’s copy was complete, it was sent to one of the permanent force editors for checking and editing and then, laboriously, despatched by driver to the printers.


Again, though designated a ‘reporter’, I spent much of my time in the darkroom, learning photography but mainly assisting with the printing of endless photographs. These were used as a form of baksheesh (or ‘baksies’ as we bastardised the term) to extract favours from one or another military panjandrum.


For example, on one occasion, when sent to cover a military dance, I spotted a man of great significance to those of us marooned every evening in Wonderboom. He was an administrative officer at the defence headquarters personnel unit, near the Paratus office. This unit was the ultimate in sleeping accommodation because of its proximity to the magazine and its ease of access to the Pretoria-Johannesburg highway. I arranged an array of shots of the officer and his wife, then presented myself in his office a few days later. I said I had a gift for him and handed over a dozen glossy photos (8” x 10”) of the officer and his lady. I mentioned that a billet at DHQ personnel would greatly aid my ability to do my job. A transfer followed.


So photographs became a form of currency, and human vanity – or venality – was never to be underestimated, even in matters so trivial.


I also made some good friends – of whom Roger Wolfsohn, today a New York psychiatrist, remains one of my closest – and learned various revealing facts about the Defence Force. Paratus was a bivouac for some fairly ropey journalists horizontally inserted, as it were, from various newspapers into the ranks of officers. Our commanding officer was a South African Navy captain, Kosie Nieuwoudt, who, when I later temporarily joined the ranks of the navy frigate, SAS President Kruger, was disparaged by another navy man as ‘a fat-arsed, desk-bound four-ringer’. The others were all total strategy types, no doubt cogs in the propaganda effort of which Paratus was a fairly minor outpost.


All military establishments operate, in varying degrees, on ‘the need to know’ basis. National servicemen, at the bottom of the chain of command, were deemed receivers of orders, not originators of ideas or strategies. Of course, we fervently dreamed up assignments, such as an article on the naval printing works in Simon’s Town, which got us a trip to the Mother City. But in the main our assignments consisted of covering medal parades, mess reunions, and Damesfederasie-type functions.


From an extreme distance I got sight of the top brass of the military establishment. I could never have imagined that one of them, Lieutenant-General Bob Rogers, then Chief of the Air Force, would take his place alongside me – or perhaps in deference to his vast seniority, the other way around – as a fellow new arrival backbench MP in the DP caucus of the 1989 parliament. Bob (whom I would have stiffly saluted at the time) became a friend and a good political ally. When, in 1993, I was visiting Israel, I was introduced to the country’s president Ezer Weizmann. Learning I was from South Africa, he asked if I knew Bob Rogers. I told him we were now colleagues. Weizmann, one of Israel’s top fighter pilots and previously head of its legendary air force, lit up and said in his earthy way: ‘Bob Rogers is one of the best pilots I ever met. We flew Mustangs together in Korea, and he was damn fine.’ Praise indeed.21


Rogers, of course, was something of an anomaly – one of the very few in the top defence nomenklatura who was English and not aligned to the Nat establishment. Far more typical was the chief of the army, Lieutenant-General Magnus Malan, who went on to become, in my time in the army, Chief of the Defence Force. In due course, he followed his father to parliament and soon became, thanks to his closeness to PW Botha, Minister of Defence. In this capacity I first met him properly when I became an MP. By the early 1990s he was surrounded by controversy because of the actions of covert military units – such as the CCB and the notorious Vlakplaas – in extra-judicial killings and dirty war activities aimed at ANC operatives.


Botha, too, was actually a distant, unsmiling presence. Many hours were spent in the darkroom where, to improve the standing of our CO, we had to develop dozens of photographs of Botha’s family. I never met him – although bizarrely he telephoned me, for the first time, in 2006 to point out the disastrous impact that flooding had had on the Kaaimans Pass on the N2 highway, near his retirement home in Wilderness in the southern Cape. We had two lengthy conversations about the imminent danger to local infrastructure, but never discussed politics. In that year the DA controlled most of the municipalities in the southern Cape, including Botha’s old constituency of George.


I have elaborated on these personalities and my objective location as a minor cog in the Defence Force of the time because fully 25 years after my 18-month stint of national service, my scribblings at Paratus would be disseminated – or more accurately, sliced and diced and ruthlessly decontextualised – by ANC bigwigs to portray me as, variously, ‘on the payroll of the SADF’,22 ‘one of apartheid’s chief apologists’,23 and ‘[heaping] hymns of praise on the apartheid war machine’.24


The reality behind these laughable, if lurid, pronouncements was this:


• Every national serviceman was paid approximately R35 a month (which increased by about R10 when after 12 months I was promoted to ‘one stripe’ as a lance-corporal, the highest rank I was to attain); and


• long after I had forgotten what I churned out at the time, the Minister in the Presidency, Essop Pahad, and his cronies exhumed them from wherever the dusty Paratus archives repose to try and establish some basis, however marginal and elliptical, for their extreme assertions.


The source of these investigative revelations was the head of the periodical’s section during my time of service, one Brigadier Kobus Bosman. Bosman had been an apparatchik at the SABC, where he knew my mother. She once described, with some hilarity, how he visited her apartment where, due to his immense bulk, he leaned forward in one of her delicate antique chairs – and broke it! In any event, he was a marginal figure in my military career. Whether he approved or disapproved of my output as a 19-year-old conscript, he held his counsel at the time.


However, on leaving the military, he too entered politics, first as a National Party MP of no great distinction in the 1980s and 1990s, and then as a member of the provincial legislature in Gauteng from 1994. There he encountered my brother Peter. Bosman, never noted much for diligence or leadership, deeply resented the fact that despite his seniority in terms of service and the NP’s position as the second-largest party in the legislature, he had been passed over for the chairmanship of the Safety and Security Committee in favour of Peter, who led the small five-man team of the DP in the legislature. Then, within four years, the NP in Gauteng, as elsewhere, was reeling on the ropes against our resurgent party. He began to make increasingly sour attacks on the DP in debates. In November 1998, he unveiled a ‘revelation’:


‘I wonder if the honourable member is aware of the fact that while I was in the Defence Force, I had a very talented young man who did his national service indirectly under my command. He was very talented, Sir, because he was a journalist with Paratus, one of the better journalists, and he was one of the best propaganda writers for the Defence Force at the time. As a matter of fact, Mr Speaker, he was very effective … [That] man, Sir, was Mr Tony Leon.’25


This proved to be unexpected manna for the ANC – which was, of course, Bosman’s intent. In particular, it was an oleaginous West Indian lawyer-cum-writer, Ronald S Roberts, a close cohort of Pahad’s, who then apparently scoured the back issues of Paratus in search of ammunition. Roberts arrived in South Africa in 1994, long after the battle against apartheid ended. Undeterred by being ‘missing in action’ he proceeded to establish a decidedly mixed – if not overwhelmingly negative – reputation as a polemicist and author of various bilious diatribes.


His general modus operandi was to ingratiate himself with the ascendant political-intellectual elite, collaborate with them – usually in the form of co-authorships – and then use their renown to boost himself. However, in a somewhat small world, he harboured another less endearing and (in my view) entirely characteristic habit: he quickly fell out with his associates. Soon after producing various tracts, he ceased to be on speaking terms with Albie Sachs, Kader Asmal and his wife Louise, and, famously and very publicly, with Nadine Gordimer, the über-ANC liberation novelist who withdrew her authorisation to Roberts to write her biography, which he had already done by overstepping the boundaries she had set.


However, his co-operation with Pahad and Mbeki, of whom Roberts penned a hagiographic tract on his ‘intellectual tradition’, whatever that might imply, appeared to be made of sterner stuff. Accordingly, he wrote various poison-pen tracts after trawling through the Paratus archives.26 In turn, Pahad would then ‘quote’ Roberts (with whom he had no doubt conspired) in the National Assembly as proof of my role in the ‘total strategy against the total onslaught’.


Among the extraordinary array of ANC politicians I have met, from the good and the great to the mediocre and the awful, Pahad, with his menace and penchant for viciously personalising every issue, occupies a league of his own. Indeed, it is piquant to be lectured by Pahad on the evils of propaganda. He is more Stalinist than most of his comrades and churned out a string of defences in the African Communist for the most rights-delinquent and repressive behaviour his Soviet masters meted out to their eastern European satellites – including, in 1968, the rape of Czechoslovakia.


He was, into the bargain, one of the worst speakers in parliament, barely lifting his eyes from his text to acknowledge or interact with the audience. He brings to mind – on a puny scale – Clement Attlee’s description of the old monster, Stalin, himself: ‘He reminded me of the Renaissance despots – no principles, any methods, but no flowery language – always yes or no, though you could only count on him if it was no.’27


The authentication of such assertions as ‘dignifying the apartheid military machine’ or ‘portraying apartheid as God’s gift to the white population’ – in the measured words of the ANC’s Smuts Ngonyama28 – was risible and would have failed a basic ethics test. Nonetheless the evidentiary basis of the statements was irrelevant to the ‘big lie’ technique.


Having rummaged through what must have been dozens of eminently forgettable and marginal pieces, my enemies produced as ‘exhibit A’ a piece that I penned on the Transkei ‘independence’ celebrations in October 1976. My and my photographer’s assignment had been to cover the SADF’s participation and logistical support for the bantustan’s formal accession to ‘independence’ from South Africa. It took our train about two days to reach Umtata, where we were billeted in a tent. We were then obliged to get up, after about four hours’ sleep, to scurry around snuffing up material to suggest some fizz and élan in what would otherwise have been one of history’s great non-events. The overwhelming bulk of the Transkeian population was resolutely opposed to being denationalised as part of the logic of the bantustan policy.


About the worst that Roberts-Pahad could produce from my no doubt execrable article was the headline proclaiming ‘a magnificent freedom day’. Toe-curling indeed! But hardly demonstrative of some sinister, later buried, agenda on my part to hide the apartheid state’s evil and nefarious intent.


Some three years after Pahad’s exposé (which no doubt had the president’s approval), his master, Thabo Mbeki, in 2003 presided over the state funeral ordered up for Kaizer Matanzima, who led the Transkei to ‘independence’ and was easily the most notorious black comprador in the service of apartheid. Yet, to secure his Eastern Cape base, Mbeki heaped praise on Matanzima and practically co-opted him from his place in the Pantheon of apartheid collaborators into a hitherto unlikely role as one of the progenitors of the black struggle against the system that spawned him.


And then, to add to my mirth, Stella Sigcau – whose father was inaugurated as ‘State President of the Transkei’ – took office in 1994 as an ANC cabinet minister. She too had been in the special VIP section of the Umtata independence celebration on which I reported in 1976. At the time the ‘Pondoland Princess’ was a minister in Matanzima’s cabinet.29 Leading the parade that day was a star graduate of 1 Transkei Battalion, Bantu Holomisa – shortly to become the officer commanding the Transkei Defence Force and lead a putsch against Stella Sigcau after she succeeded George Matanzima (brother of Kaizer) as prime minister.


However, politics in 2000 dictated that I, lowly scribe of the obscure Paratus, would be roughed up to suit the demonology of the ANC in government.
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1976 was my final year in the army. Before my mustering out, in addition to our humdrum reportage and photography, Paratus was inspanned into covering the border war between South Africa and Swapo insurgents in then-South West Africa. Of course, the country was actually (although largely secretly) involved in a full-scale incursion into Angola where, apparently at the behest of Secretary of State Henry Kissinger and the US administration of President Gerald Ford, the SADF was fighting alongside the Unita and FNLA forces against the Cuban-aided forces of the MPLA.


Our first inkling of this major but unreported war came one Friday. All Pretoria-based units abruptly had their weekend leave cancelled. Instead of retreating from the boredom of army life to the discos of Johannesburg, we were loaded into Bedford trucks and deposited at the sprawling Voortrekkerhoogte compound of ‘3 Supply and Transport Unit’. There we were told, on ‘hush-hush’ terms (there were hundreds of servicemen involved), that we were not to report to ‘anyone at all’ about our exercise.


So it was that our particular shroud of secrecy included mountains of tinned food. We formed a human conveyor belt and spent the evening and next day painstakingly removing all the labels from the cans and replacing each with a blob of paint: I recall red for processed meat, green for tinned vegetables, and blue for fruit salad. No official explanation was offered; however, word passed down the line that the victuals were destined for our troops already deep inside Angola, and it was necessary to disguise their origins.


Of course, most of the troops in Angola would be white and mostly Afrikaans-speaking. Disguising the source of their food was absurd.


Apart from painting tins of food my other ‘contribution’ to the war in Angola was more of a piece with Paratus work: flying up to the South West Africa/Angola border in lumbering and extremely noisy C-130s to such places as Ondangwa and Otjiwarango in northern Namibia, and reporting on the SADF’s humanitarian side. This comprised doctors, nurses and other personnel assisting the refugee columns flowing in to escape the ravages of the civil war. The fact that the SADF was actively aiding – and fuelling – the civil war was, of course, unmentioned. One uncharacteristic sight for those times and my naïve eyes was a column of dispirited-looking, poorly clothed white Angolans clutching suitcases. Many years later, Harry Schwarz told the story of his own encounter with such a group. Schwarz spoke to a man with a suitcase-full of worthless Angolan currency, who told him: ‘If you had come to me two years ago and told me to give up 10% of what you have in order to keep 90% of what you own I would have told you to get lost. But I have now lost everything! My home, my business, my cars, my dignity; so if you said to me today, you have to give up 90% of what you have in order to keep 10% of what you own, I would grab the offer with both hands.’


I have little doubt that the refugees I encountered would have made the same concession – which usually comes too late. South Africa was later to prove a remarkable exception to this general, if gloomy, rule on the politics of compromise. While Roberts and Pahad have tried to paint my period in the military as the ‘loyal service of atrocity’, the true reductio ad absurdum of their garbage came from an ANC hack in the National Council of Provinces (NCOP), parliament’s other chamber – a certain TS Setona MP. In an extraordinary outburst – faithfully and duly noted in Hansard – he had this to say in 2005:


‘It reminds [sic] of 1976 when some of the members who are now audacious to stand in front of this house and talk about a lack of libraries and resources in schools, tend to forget that they are led by a person who in 1976 when the students were revolting against this brain damaging colonial education system, was in a helicopter up there, monitoring, shooting and maiming our people … Hon [Shelley] Loe [a Democratic Alliance NCOP MP] does not even know the history of her party and the history of her leaders. [Interjections] Tony Leon was a soldier and he was one of the soldiers, a lance-corporal in a helicopter above the streets of Soweto, firing tear gas and bullets at the armless students. Thank you, very much. [Applause]’30


Clearly Setona was deeply damaged by the education system he decried. In fact, on 16 June 1976 I was thousands of miles away from South Africa, on a South African Navy frigate approaching the eastern seaboard of America. This extraordinary odyssey was an unasked-for bonus of my military service, and led to me enjoying the doubtful distinction of becoming, apparently, the first South African army national serviceman to travel overseas with the South African Navy in peacetime.


With very little warning the US government decided – apparently at the very last moment and doubtless in the confident expectation of rejection – to invite isolated South Africa to send a warship to participate in celebrating the US Bicentennial on 4 July 1976. The SADF obviously leaped at this opportunity to sail out of the political deep-freeze into which apartheid had consigned it, and one of the three serving anti-submarine frigates, the SAS President Kruger, was quickly prepared for the 16 925-nautical-mile round trip. The Paratus officer class was, naturally, falling over itself to join the ship. However, after much negotiating with naval headquarters in Simon’s Town, it was decreed by the men in white that there was no room on board for another officer, and a ‘rating’ would have to be sent to report and photograph the voyage.31


Both the invitation and the wrangling were unknown to me and my fellow troopies when one May morning we gathered to work out the day’s assignments (or more likely how to minimise them). There were no navy servicemen in the Paratus head office at the time, and I was hastily called to the office of the commanding officer – Captain Kosie Nieuwoudt. Would I be interested in leaving ‘the next day’ for Simon’s Town to join the crew of the President Kruger for its voyage to America?


I couldn’t believe my luck, at 19, to join the navy for a 65-day epic voyage all the way to America! At the end of standard nine, in 1973, I had cashed in the money I received as gifts for my bar-mitzvah three years before, and gone with my brother to friends and family in Switzerland and London. That was hitherto my only exposure to the joys of overseas travel.


Twenty-two years later, a latter-day conspiracy theorist, James Sanders, produced a tract on the rise and fall of South Africa’s secret service. In his volume, Apartheid’s Friends, he seized on my assignment to locate me as a sort of apparatchik of the sinister and secretive forces abroad in the military at the time. He opined:


‘He [Tony Leon] did not report for Paratus on this intriguing visit by the South African Navy to the United States but apparently “provided” a colour picture for the “cover” of the magazine. It would seem likely that at such a sensitive time, a few weeks after the Soweto uprising, the personnel on this trip would have been closely vetted by both the MID [Military Intelligence Department] and the dominant Department of Information …’32


Practically every ‘fact’ in the paragraph is an invention. Accordingly, I never bothered to read beyond page two. In fact, the ship cast off a full two weeks before the Soweto uprising and I still have, yellowing with age, the four-page special supplement which Paratus printed of our voyage based on my shipboard diary and the photographs which I took. My superiors had deemed I was sufficiently quick-witted to master both halves of the photo-journalist divide; and I was despatched, on the day I was told of the assignment, for some crack lessons on how to frame a picture and how to set the ‘f-stop’ aperture to achieve the best results with high-speed film in the decidedly old-order Canon camera with which I was entrusted for the trip.


Two days later I reported for duty, in biting wind, at Simon’s Town.


While the voyage was long – over two months – and took its 236 crew members to New York via Walvis Bay, Abidjan, Las Palmas, Norfolk VA and Charleston SC, it was far from a pleasure. I quickly learned why no officer could be sent. I was accommodated in ‘mess 9’, with 30 other communications and radar operator ratings. It was way below the waterline and it was dark except when the lights were switched on. I was presented with a hammock and told to make the best of it. During the day we stowed them, and by night strung them up from hooks. A hard mattress was encased by canvas and that was my abode for over two months.


Far more than the unfamiliarity of the sleeping arrangements, I had to overcome the initial hostility of the seamen to an army presence and the oddity of one brown uniform amid the sea of blue. I described it in the supplement: ‘While, after a time, I seemed to interact reasonably well with my fellow travellers, I was the constant butt of practical jokes and irreverent comments for being the only army man aboard ship. To them the idea of a “pedestrian” (navy disparagement for army personnel) afloat was inconceivable.’


I was constantly tired owing to the swaying motion of the ship. I was not a regular cleaning or maintenance hand, but there was general cleaning; and every Saturday, mess decks were immaculately cleaned, scrubbed and shone. Whether I had to shine all 35 lockers, scrub the deck or wash the bulkheads, it was three hours of hard work and reminded me of basic training at Voortrekkerhoogte.


One day while the President Kruger was in mid-ocean from a refuelling and refurbishing stop in Las Palmas en route to Norfolk, Virginia, the largest naval base in the US, the telex in the signals room spewed forth pages which told a tale of unimagined rebellion and repression. It was 16 June 1976. We received, naturally, a highly selective, state-sanctioned account of events. But the facts could not be disguised. Shortly before our ship berthed in America, on 25 June 1976, we received the sombre, awful death and casualty figures from the riots, which soon spread from Soweto to engulf most of the other Reef townships and extended as far as the Western Cape.33 Eventually 70 townships witnessed disturbances and rioting leading to loss of life and property. Soon the initial educational reforms demanded by the students had morphed into a hitherto unheard of militancy for change and liberty.


The response of the government was to increase repression. The minister of Justice, Jimmy Kruger, announced in July that unlimited detention without trial would be used ‘against all persons threatening public order’; all public gatherings were banned; and all schools in the riot areas closed down. However, the immediate response of the Black People’s Convention turned out to be the most prophetic:


‘The National Black People’s Convention declares that the severe riots have ushered in a new era of political consciousness.’


Indeed, the tide of violence and repression unleashed on 16 June was far from spent by the time we reached America – or when we returned home. So elemental – and unexpected – was its force that the smug certitudes which had characterised the Vorster administration and the white community it represented were no longer tenable.


However, in the tiny universe of the President Kruger, these things and their consequences could barely be imagined. The immediate concern was whether South Africa’s floating emissary would be targeted for demonstrations or damage when we entered New York on the eve of Bicentennial day, 4 July 1976. From the naval perspective there were two advantages. The first was the non-existence of any strong anti-apartheid organisations and structures in America. (It was only ten years later that pressure created by black community leaders such as Andrew Young, Randall Robinson and Jesse Jackson led to powerful financial sanctions and disinvestment.)


The America we arrived in was still led by Gerald Ford, and the target of the agitators and demonstrations, such as they were, was the even more repressive (and much more geographically relevant) regime of Augusto Pinochet of Chile. The Chilean sloop, Esmeralda, which had been used as a site of torture of dissidents, took the heat. South Africa was barely noticed.


For a 19-year-old serviceman, entering New York as part of a 49-mile-long column of naval vessels – the largest collection of warships to form a single convoy in peacetime – was a thrilling moment. Under the giant span of the Verrazano-Narrows Bridge, an estimated thirty thousand pleasure craft thronged. Overhead flew Zeppelin-style blimps, and on the water fireboats gushed arcs of water eighty feet high, while helicopters dipped overhead. We dropped anchor in the Hudson River, in the shadow of the famous Liberty statue.


The big action was the next day, 4 July, when America celebrated, in typical big style, the 200th anniversary of its independence. The President Kruger’s job was to be part of the international naval review, which meant it and some fifty other naval ships formed a floating guard of honour for Vice President Nelson Rockefeller aboard an ultra-modern amphibious ship. It was the next sight that I will never forget: 225 sailing vessels from around the world. This convoy, known collectively as ‘Operation Sail 1976’, was also a modern first – apparently the greatest armada under canvas since the Battle of Navarino off the coast of Greece in 1827.


My crewmates and I were overwhelmed and excited as we took our first tentative steps in the Big Apple. We were nervous of New York’s fierce and scary reputation – but there were some ten thousand other sailors enjoying a ‘liberty boat’ (which means time off), and New York was one giant party, which we drank, literally and figuratively, to the dregs.


In all, I spent 65 days aboard the President Kruger and regard myself as one of the fortunate 236 to have witnessed – and in my case photographed – such a sweepingly epic event. The rest of my national service was, for obvious reasons, a boring anti-climax. When I ‘klaared out’, I was presented with a government cheque of R750 for serving an additional six months – which I did to avoid call-up camps in the future.


I then headed off to the radically different environment of the University of the Witwatersrand.
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2. Dancing with Dialectics


CHAPTER 2


Dancing with Dialectics


The age of gold of the human race is not behind us, it lies ahead of us, it consists in the perfection of the social order. Our fathers have not seen it; our children will arrive there one day; it is for us to mark the path.


HENRI DE SAINT SIMON
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The University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg (Wits), is at the forefront of academic and scientific endeavour and research in South Africa. It was also, during the Nationalist years, an outpost of continuous opposition to apartheid and its seemingly relentless march to a closed and racially discrete society. This stance was completely antithetical to the ethos of liberal inclusivity and openness which Wits proclaimed and attempted – with variable success – to practise.


I was involved with the institution – intimately and more or less continuously – for nearly twenty years: as a student, a campus politician, a lecturer and – in my final incarnation – a member of its executive governing council.


Firstly, though, after the fairly narrow strictures of boarding school and the army, campus life was new and pleasant. There were the distractions of orientation week; campus ‘razzles’; and the discovery of ‘sex, drugs, and rock ’n roll’. There was neither a huge nor copious amount of these essentials, but enough to realise that life on the Braamfontein campus, where Wits is housed, was to be qualitatively different from my previous, essentially monastic, experiences.


Since politics was already embedded in my DNA, I contemplated – having previously had no idea of anything vaguely like a career path – enrolling for a Bachelor of Arts degree, majoring in political studies with sub-majors in international relations and industrial sociology. My ardour vis-à-vis the Progressive Party continued – and indeed with some return of affection, for while I was an ingénue in the ways of Wits I rapidly ascended in the Prog ranks. I was elected as regional youth chairman and landed a place on the National Executive which, at the time, as its youngest member, seemed a far bigger deal than it probably was.


While I imbibed (or perhaps, with the aid of an occasional joint, more accurately smoked) my new environment, the biggest change was my academic and intellectual exposure to the ideas of the hard Left. While we were not literally force-fed Marxist dialectics of arcane historical materialism, the diet was heavy on radical starch, with extremely spare dollops of liberal theory – and a scarcity of any conservative roughage!


Wits in the late 1970s was in thrall to the whole schtick of André Gunder Frank’s ‘development of underdevelopment’ theses, and other intellectual camp-followers in left-wing historiography and sociology. The lonely exceptions were the departments of international relations and classics – the former headed by a mellifluous German historian, Professor Dirk Kunert, of whom his unkind detractors said: ‘His mother got in the way of the Soviet army when they invaded Berlin.’


The latter department was chaired by the extraordinary and eccentric Michael Arnheim. He arrived at lectures in a formal gown, announcing to his class (which overflowed out of the lecture hall, since Latin was still a requirement for law undergraduates): ‘The only reason I wear this garb is to remind myself – and you lot, in particular – that this is actually a university.’ Arnheim wrote a tract denouncing, amazingly, Vorster’s almost non-existent reforms as paving the way to full-scale majority rule. He was much ridiculed, but those such as the extreme rightist Herstigte Nasionale Party (HNP), who had been pounding the same drum for years, were bereft of Arnheim’s classical vantage.


But in the main, my academic attentions were forced leftward and I struggled through the various tomes, such as Das Kapital, Karl Marx: An Introductory Reader, and Industrial Relations: A Marxist Introduction. Despite a most repressive, even paranoid censorship regime, none of these – and a myriad companion pieces – were banned or censored. Quite possibly, and perhaps rightly, the benighted censors knew that both their length and impenetrability weighed against their being widely read.


The Wits social sciences departments contained a number of interesting personalities who interrogated our not-altogether fascinated classes in various tutorials. Once again the wheel of fate and connectivity was to turn up in my life: my industrial sociology lecturer, Belinda Bozzoli1 (at the time a radical feminist), was the daughter of the outgoing and eminent vice chancellor, Professor GR Bozzoli.


What neither she, nor I, could even have remotely forecast was that her then two-year-old son, Gareth van Onselen, would some twenty-three years later land up as the diligent and driven head of my office in parliament.


The department of politics was headed by the immensely likeable, but not always understandable, Professor Alf Stadler. The three years of undergraduate politics was spent, essentially, studying Marxist and Hegelian philosophy, with a dash of the revolutionary and enlightenment thinkers – Hobbes to Rousseau – thrown in for good measure. The politics department – no less than the others – was also in the grip of ‘developmentalitis’. Perhaps the attraction of Gunder Frank et al was their faith that the capitalist world economy was in a state of advanced, if not sclerotic, crisis and would, sooner rather than later, fall and be replaced by a more humane, worker-orientated order.


Although only fleetingly referred to by my lecturers, the real bogey they sought to refute was the orthodox liberal academic mainstream – people like Leo Kuper, Hobart Houghton and Michael O’Dowd. Their essential thesis, usefully summarised in a more contemporary context by fellow liberal academic and left-wing scourge, Hermann Giliomee, was that as economic growth accelerated, apartheid would fade away.2 Democracy and the sway of markets would ultimately solve ethnic conflict. This was anathema to the Left, for whom capitalism and segregation were two sides of the same coin. In this view, the impoverishment of the African homelands was the essential precondition for the supply of the mass of cheap labour needed to dig and drill the very deeply located ore that was the basis for South Africa’s dominant gold mining sector.


Mining was a major field of interest for the Marxist scholars. The university itself, just like the city of Johannesburg, was founded on the industry. It was first established on the Rand in 1904 as ‘The School of Mines’. For many faculty members, Wits continued to serve the predominant interests of the mining elite, hence their vehement critique.


A particular flavour of the month, if not the decade, was the work of a Canadian ‘Marxist-structuralist’, Frederick Johnstone, who interpreted race relations in class terms. His analysis was based largely on his empirical study of the mines between the First World War and the white miners’ revolt of 1922. Much less attention was paid to more contemporary, liberal theses suggesting that apartheid was – when we were students – ‘being undermined by the resilient capitalist economy’s need – in the 1970s and 1980s – for labour, goods and markets which the apartheid system was stultifying.’ John Kane-Berman was later to codify these thoughts in his aptly entitled tract South Africa’s Silent Revolution.3 He posited that the steady growth of the economy – which then exceeded Japan’s – had ensured the rise of black workers to ‘strategic levels of the labour ladder’ regardless of whether they lived in the homelands or in urban areas.


Another favourite polemicist much beloved by the Left was the radical existentialist Frantz Fanon. The Wretched of the Earth, although published in 1962, was very much still in vogue at Wits in the 1970s. The historian Paul Johnson has dismissed him as the avatar of ‘the theology of violence’, which has validity. For Fanon, violence was a necessary form of social and moral regeneration. Although largely drawing on his own study and experience of French colonisation – especially the bloody decolonisation of North Africa – Fanon was highly rated since the Left viewed South Africa as a mutation of colonialism, ‘colonialism of a special type’, as the jargon had it.


I, however, was much struck by a passage which describes what happens to the state after independence, when the so-called ‘native bourgeoisie’ takes control. It is eerily prophetic; and it is perhaps ironic that no less a student of Fanon than Thabo Mbeki became a latter-day champion of what he termed the ‘patriotic bourgeoisie’. Fanon’s bleak description of post-colonialism could, in part, be an accurate depiction of post-Mandelaism and the unhappy epitaph of the Mbeki presidency:


‘The institutions of the state are progressively reduced to those of the president and his circle. The party becomes a mere shell, and actually “an implement of coercion”. The leading posts in the bureaucracy are entrusted to men from the leader’s tribe, sometimes directly from his own family. Parliament becomes little more than an adjunct of the Presidency where a legislative veneer is fitted over the wishes of the autocracy in return for higher salaries and some licence to ventilate popular sentiments (though not, of course, sentiments critical of the president) … Elections “circulate the elite”, contribute to the mystification of the voters, and thus help to preserve the elite’s freedom to go on enriching itself without interference from below.’4


Why did Marx and Marxism hold such a grip on so many fine academics? It was apparent, even by 1977, that capitalism was not on the verge of collapse; and no proletarian-led transition to socialism could be sighted. Where indeed Marxism was applied, in the Soviet bloc, in China, and in parts of the Third World, the misery index rose and democratic institutions were trampled under the tyrant’s heel. Yet dissent was dismissed on the basis that what we observed in the real world was a ‘distortion’, or a form of ‘state capitalism’. The brilliant English historian, resident at New York University, Tony Judt, demolished such sophistry in a powerful put-down:


‘Marxism as a doctrine cannot be separated from the history of the political movements and systems to which it led. Moreover Marx’s other youthful intuition – that the proletariat has a privileged insight into the final purposes of history thanks to its special role as an exploited class whose own liberation will signal the liberation of all humankind – is intimately attached to the ultimate communist outcome, so that Marxism becomes difficult to distinguish from communism …


‘And the daily deployment of Marxist categories for the vulgar purpose of suppressing freedom – which was their primary value to communists in power – detracts over time from the charm of the theorem itself. This clinical application of dialectics to the twisting of minds and the breaking of bodies was usually lost on Western scholars of Marxism, absorbed in the contemplation of past ideals or future prospects and unmoved by inconvenient news from the Soviet Union.’5


Although having learned from my matric debacle that exams are not passed without a fair amount of backbreaking preparation, I began to read and explore ideas and authors off the course and away from the curriculum. Jean-Francois Revel and Raymond Aron became two particular favourites. Revel’s conclusion that the communist system could never democratise without destroying itself would over the next dozen years prove accurate and confirm Marx as a failed prophet.


I also started dipping into the essays of Isaiah Berlin and through him into the ‘open society’ writings of Karl Popper. They assisted me in clarifying the romanticised Marxist and neo-Marxist philosophies to which we were exposed. As Popper pointed out, any philosopher attached to a closed and complete system of thought – such as Marxism – helped lay the foundations for totalitarianism by breeding hostility to ‘openness’, whether in respect of science or of democratic societies themselves.


Then there was Berlin’s famous aphorism: ‘Liberty is liberty, not equality or fairness or justice or human happiness or a quiet conscience.’6 Berlin also (as one of his intellectual disciples Mark Lilla recounts) pointed out a central paradox of modern thinking on liberty, that it is often those most attached to freedom as a political value who end up supporting ideas or measures that reduce its sphere or seek to extinguish it.7


But of all the works that gripped my imagination at that time, and one that still does, was a volume by the British historian and journalist, Paul Johnson, The Enemies of Society.8 Johnson, who was to achieve international fame with his later work A History of the Modern World,9 had himself undergone an interesting, if circuitous, journey from socialist editor of the New Statesman to an early cheerleader for Margaret Thatcher. His conclusion that the millenarianism of ideology did little to improve the lot of Fanon’s ‘wretched of the earth’ is worth recalling: ‘New tyrannies have replaced old ones, and fresh injustices have been generously heaped on the heads of countless innocents in every quarter of the earth.’


He also seemed to have a much shrewder and more realistic analysis of the illusoriness of devising permanent and equitable solutions to problems which have always sprung from the nature of human beings – not arithmetical units – themselves. For him history proved that a flourishing middle class was the bellwether of economic prosperity, political stability and individual freedom. Importantly, Johnson noted that the health of the middle class is probably the best indicator of the health of society as a whole.


Not only did these views completely contradict the prevailing intellectual winds – at least in the small universe of a university – but his powerful polemic on freedom provided me with a lodestar to navigate the murky waters into which South Africa was sailing, and in which I was to immerse myself for the next 25 years.
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Much of my time was not spent reading tracts or disputing my lecturer’s dialectical interpretation of history. It was spent meeting and befriending a variety of people, largely from the more affluent sections of Johannesburg Jewish society. That they were – or proclaimed to be – keen adherents of socialism and rather mocking of my attachment to the PFP did not impair our socialising. However, one friendship was to provide the basis of a most durable political partnership both on and off the campus. Donald Rallis was the politically canny and intellectually witty son of the Dean of Men’s Residence, and we were to spend the six years of my student life creating a liberal presence on the SRC and using the PFP youth movement as a battering ram against – ironically – the more conservative elements of the party.


Donald left the country in 1982 to avoid military conscription, and settled in America where he is today an associate professor of geography in Virginia. Had he stayed, he would have achieved a front-rank position in liberal politics. Alas, like so many others, my friend is a member of the diaspora of talented South Africans around the world.


One of my first ventures as Young Prog chairman was to organise a conference with the rather vacuous (I probably thought ‘grand’) title: ‘South Africa: Where do you stand?’ The anti-apartheid speakers – at least those who still had a legal voice – gathered, and this was my first opportunity to meet and hear Desmond Tutu, then secretary-general of the South African Council of Churches. Tutu’s address, in his characteristic, charismatic style, was blunt and prophetic. He told our all-white, rather polite Young Prog assembly:


‘The miracle is that blacks still talk to whites after all their ghastly treatment. Let the whites use our transport, run the gamut of police roadblocks and see if they agree that this system is evil, unjust and immoral and for those reasons bound to fail. I must issue a warning,’ he went on, ‘that if the present things continue then as sure as day follows night, we are going to have a blood battle in South Africa.’


However, in what was to become his most familiar trait, he laced his doom-laden (and largely accurate) foreboding with humour: ‘I often wonder what the white parliament would talk about, if there were no blacks in South Africa!’


A few months later, the world would witness – again – just how ‘evil, unjust and immoral’ the system really was, when Black Consciousness leader Steve Biko died in police custody in 1977. The circumstances, even by the grisly standards that had made the security branch infamous, were deeply shocking. Despite at least a dozen injuries in the eight days preceding his death – including extensive brain damage – Biko was manacled in leg-irons, and driven naked for over seven hundred miles – from Port Elizabeth to Pretoria – in the back of a Land Rover. He was dead on arrival.


At a mass meeting at Wits in September I was mesmerised by the main speaker, the East London newspaper editor Donald Woods, who delivered a thundering denunciation of the minister of Police, Jimmy Kruger, whose utterance that Biko’s death ‘left him cold’ would enter the lexicon of political infamy and imbecility. Within months Woods would flee to escape the privations of the banning order Kruger vengefully slapped on him, shortly after the student rally.


Biko’s shameful death and the outpouring of local protest against it had significant and lasting consequences. In the immediate aftermath, the apartheid government decided to raise, rather than relax, levels of repression: it declared 18 organisations unlawful, and arrested 70 activists (including most of the reformist members of the Soweto Committee of Ten); banned several people (including Woods); and closed down the largest black newspaper, the World. Vestiges of peaceful political activism as then existed were effectively choked off. In consequence, what began in the 16 June 1976 revolt was taken further: the further radicalisation – if not revolutionisation – of black opinion.


Another fact highlighted by Biko’s death was the extremely threadbare state of the rule of law: the apartheid apparatchiks had gutted its substance. This was particularly true of the magistracy, which had none of the independence of the jurists in the superior courts. One such, a certain Marthinus Prins, presided over a 15-day inquest into Biko’s death, with South Africa’s foremost advocate, Sydney Kentridge SC, acting for Biko’s family. Kentridge made legal mincemeat of the policemen who interrogated Biko; and in a spellbinding four-hour address he called for the verdict that Biko died as a result of the criminal assault on him by one or more of the eight security policemen who had him in custody. Early the following year, Prins dismissed Kentridge’s contention with a three-minute finding that no one could be held criminally responsible for the death.


These events were played out on the grand stage of South Africa’s meta-conflict; but there was, too, drama in the much smaller sideshow of white politics in which I had by then something of a bit part. The United Party took the spectacularly ill-starred decision to disband and relinquish its battered brand to create – with a maverick Nat breakaway, Theo Gerdener – the New Republic Party. From my early childhood, the UP had seemed a permanent, if increasingly enfeebled, presence. So this was an early lesson in ‘the impermanence of the permanent’. Even mighty structures on the surface of politics and society can disappear in an unexpected swirl of events and circumstances.


The National Party, more than two decades later, also disappeared into the elephants’ graveyard of South African politics. What made the UP’s move odder than most was that its death was by its own hand. To be fair, its leader, Sir de Villiers Graaff, still holds the dubious distinction of being South Africa’s longest-serving – 21 years – leader of the opposition. But he desperately wanted a political realignment; and it simply didn’t work. His successor, Radclyffe Cadman, had the equally dubious distinction of leading his ‘new’ party for just five months before losing his own seat when the NRP sank outside Natal and yielded its official opposition status to the PFP.


Much to the irritation of the UP, the Young Progs (and I) held a demonstration outside their dissolution congress, inviting them to join the PFP.


In my second year I was elected (along with Donald Rallis) to the Wits SRC for the first of three terms of office. Dr Henry Kissinger once famously remarked that the reason why academia is such a vicious rat-race is ‘because the stakes are so small’. He had obviously not spent time in the hothouse atmosphere of student government. Herein an envenomed atmosphere prevailed – replete with personality disputes, arcane debates about abstruse theory, and vicious jockeying for position and status. I was no choirboy, and Rallis and I (elected respectively vice president and deputy president on the Exco) delighted in pricking the balloons of those we dubbed ‘the sack and sandal brigade’ of the Left.


The Wits SRC was intensely politicised. It reflected – in a small way – the academic cleavages on campus and the politics of wider South Africa. Broadly, the council was divided into the Left, which tended to dominate through organisational discipline; the liberals, whom Rallis and I led; and the right-wing conservatives, a distinct minority whose support generally came from engineers, Rhodesian students and the tiny band of NP supporters on campus.


The latter were eventually led by Russel Crystal, whose provocative obnoxiousness and contrariness vastly exceeded my own anti-Left inclinations. The fact that he was Jewish, with a capital ‘J’, appeared to rub some nasty salt into the wounded feelings of his fellow Semites who found his politics total anathema. Many years later, when I was the newly elected leader of the Democratic Party, Russel’s decision to quit the NP and join our party caused me to blanch. Nevertheless, I thought we should publicly welcome his act of political apostasy. (‘But you didn’t have to welcome him with a brass band,’ an angry Helen Suzman phoned to tell me.)


It was ironic, therefore, that Russel then set about helping to destroy, most effectively, the very NP machine to which he had been so attached in his student years.


If Crystal leaned more to the Left in later years, another distinct character on campus who swung radically in the opposite direction was the resident SRC anarchist, Dan Roodt. At the time pro-Nusas (the National Union of South African Students, and intellectual incubator of Left student politics) and anti-establishment, Roodt would clown at student meetings and use witty invective and his formidable reserves of intellect to advocate his brand of nihilism. Only the shifts in South Africa’s political tectonic plates would transmogrify Roodt, in ANC South Africa, into a ‘taalaktivis’ of very right-wing views unfathomable to those who had encountered him across the SRC table.


Left-wing students, in my view, projected a blend of censorious smugness and intellectual pretentiousness. Many lived together in communes in Crown Mines, south of Johannesburg – today the headquarters of the Oppenheimer-dominated De Beers diamond company, one of the prime villains in the demonology of the student Left. They sometimes seemed to fit the Nat caricature of Johannesburg’s northern suburbs, where the residents ‘could buy their own apartheid’. But some were formidably clever and personally brave: at least six student politicians whom I knew (at Wits and UCT) were severely harassed by the security police – and in one case, severely tortured. Two were served with banning orders during our time in student government.


Of course there was one overriding factor for a certain unity: apartheid and the increasingly repressive shroud in which the government was wrapping South Africa.


My first tangle with government on student affairs was both telling and trivial. One of my early tasks was to help organise the 1979 ‘Free People’s Concert’, an assemblage of rock bands to round off orientation week for the first-years. The university insisted that we obtain the then-required permit for mixed-race gatherings. My job was to apply to the Orwellian Department of Plural Relations (previously Bantu Administration) for such a permit. A mere two days before the scheduled event, the hardline deputy minister Dr AP Treurnicht, ‘after careful consideration’, refused us. No reasons were given, and no appeal was allowed. We decided to cancel the concert and I explained our decision to the student newspaper: ‘All students must be allowed to attend all university activities. The SRC is not prepared to compromise because of an absurd apartheid rule. Education does not end in the classroom. It should encompass all aspects of university life.’10


Much of my political time was spent promoting the key issue of academic freedom – not a topic in which the student Left was much interested. Trade union rights and the ubiquitous question of ‘development’ dominated their thinking. The centrality of the issue on campus arose because of the ironically titled Extension of University Education Act (1959) which excluded blacks from admission to traditionally white universities except with ministerial permission (there were seven hundred to eight hundred at Wits during my time).


On 16 April 1959 Wits had held a general assembly which affirmed a dedication, which even today reads as a clarion call to the liberal ethos: ‘[It] is our duty to uphold the principle that a University is a place where men and women without regard to race and colour are welcome to join in the acquisition and advancement of knowledge and to continue faithfully to defend this ideal against all who have sought by legislative enactment to curtail the autonomy of the University.’


During my time, the centrepiece of our activities, at which the dedication was reaffirmed, was the Richard Feetham Academic Freedom Lecture. Presumably thanks to what the Australian art critic and polymath historian Robert Hughes called ‘the colonial cringe’, the tradition was to secure a high-profile overseas speaker to address the gathering. By 1979, South Africa was beginning to feel the effects of the academic boycott, which many academics and politicians abroad were beginning to implement.


Quite aside from the importance of the lecturer, the idea of securing a well-known speaker from abroad appealed to my sense of political theatre. So I embarked on a blunderbuss approach. I sent off ten or so letters to various international liberal politicians, hoping to persuade at least one. When a committee member asked the obvious question – ‘But what will you do if more than one accepts?’ – I brushed it aside and hoped like hell we would not face such a dilemma. I pinned my hopes on Senator Edward Kennedy, whose slain brother Robert, my early political hero, had galvanised South African campuses in a series of barnstorming speeches in 1966. I knew one or two South Africans acquainted with the Kennedy dynasty, and they encouraged him to come.


In the event he declined, but sent an encouraging note, which at the time I treasured. It read: ‘Thank you very much for your kind invitation to come to deliver the annual Academic Freedom Lecture at the University of the Witwatersrand. I deeply appreciated your words of support and encouragement.


‘Much as I would like to accept, it will not be possible for me to schedule a visit at this time. I continue to hope that it will be possible for me to visit in the future. I wish you and your colleagues every success in your important struggle for justice. You will continue to have my strong support.’11


I was to meet Ted Kennedy and enjoy a cup of coffee with him some twenty-seven years later, when I was appointed a Fellow at the Kennedy School of Government, Harvard University, named after his other slain brother, President John F Kennedy. I reminded him of the invitation, of which of course, in such a long and event-laden life, he had no recollection. He was, however, extremely warm and deeply interested in developments in South Africa. By then he was also a fairly aged and overweight figure – few traces were left of his youthful svelteness and political drive. He had moved from being a presidential hopeful to being dubbed the ‘last liberal lion’ in the Senate.


Eventually, however, my various entreaties paid off and the then-rising star of the British Labour Party, Dr David Owen, agreed to come. One of the youngest-ever Foreign Secretaries, he and his party had – fortunately for our purposes – just been ousted by Margaret Thatcher’s resurgent Conservatives. We were aware that many whites detested him because of his outspoken views on Rhodesia, Namibia and apartheid South Africa; and that such black activists as remained above ground regarded him as too gradualist.


Our invitation incensed the daughter of Richard Feetham, a certain Mrs Hahn of Johannesburg, who wrote furiously denouncing us for inviting the ‘terrorist-friendly Dr Owen’ to South Africa. She also wrote directly to Owen – and to my amazement and his great credit he sent her a carefully crafted and well-reasoned response. And we did manage to arrange meetings for him with some leading struggle figures, including Desmond Tutu, Mangosuthu Buthelezi, and the famous anti-apartheid cleric, Dr Beyers Naudé, the previous head of the Christian Institute. Since Naudé was banned, this meeting presented difficulties. We settled on a one-on-one meeting in a Braamfontein tea-room. I took Owen – and was naïvely shocked that two obvious security policemen followed Beyers to the meeting and sat in plain view watching the entire encounter.


Owen had acquired – long before his arrival – a reputation for prickly sensitivity and irritability and for being something of a prima donna. He was the first international politician I had ever met, and while somewhat star-struck at the prospect, I found him reserved but largely pleasant and engaged, though given to occasional stiff silences if he grew bored or annoyed. However, his charming and gregarious American wife, Debbie, was a delight. She was an exceptionally successful literary agent (Georgette Heyer, Jeffrey Archer) and seemed genuinely interested in our group – peppering us with questions and amusing us with her quick-fire humour. She certainly leavened the occasional atmospherics generated by her husband.


The lecture itself was a huge success, with over two thousand five hundred students, academics and guests packing the sports union to hear him speak on 12 September 1979, a date chosen because it was the second anniversary of Biko’s death. He told the audience that he was indeed a ‘gradualist’ in applying economic and social pressure on South Africa, and argued that successful transitions in Namibia and Zimbabwe would pave the way for internal negotiations in South Africa. He concluded on a rousing note, which I then thought to be misplaced, but the accuracy of which would be revealed a decade later: ‘It has often been claimed that history is on the side of those who advocate violence and revolution. Our task is to defy that trend and help bring peace to South Africa.’12


Owen had been regarded as a natural leader and the obvious successor to James Callaghan. His comet-like rise and then disappearance from frontline politics provides a cautionary tale of how the many gifts he possessed – intellect, courage, charisma – can sometimes be outweighed in politics by a poor sense of judgment and timing.
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Shortly before Owen’s visit, I was rebuffed in my efforts to attain the SRC presidency. Donald Rallis and I had put together a liberal ticket for the elections, and after a lively campaign he finished first and I third in a crowded field. The top candidate of the Left, Norman Manoim, came in fourth. I shall describe my feelings after a small diversion into the state of Progressive politics.


On 3 September 1979, the PFP congress convened to choose its own leadership. I was still a member of the party’s National Executive, although not privy to its inner machinations. Colin Eglin had been pushed aside, largely because Gordon Waddell (former son-in-law of Harry Oppenheimer, and a leading MP) and others wanted a fresh approach. They specifically wanted as leader the much-admired academic-turned-politician Dr Frederik van Zyl Slabbert; and Slabbert’s election was essentially a coronation.


The Waddellites had also decided to remove Harry Schwarz as chairman of the National Executive and replace him with Slabbert’s close confidant, the former Methodist minister-turned Anglo American executive-turned politician, Dr Alex Boraine. At that stage I did not particularly like Schwarz; indeed, we had clashed at several congresses because the youth movement found his reflexive support for the South African Defence Force repugnant. However, I felt his skill and articulacy lent the party credibility. I also found the machinations – and overweening arrogance of Slabbert’s lieutenants – grating. When the National Executive met to choose its chairman, I cast my ballot for Schwarz. Not for the first time I was on the losing side, as Boraine romped home.


When the SRC gathered to elect its president, Norman Manoim defeated me by two votes. One of the members who turned against me was Schwarz’s youngest son, Michael, who told me in tones of deep emotion before the meeting that ‘the PFP with your help ousted my father, so don’t expect my support tonight.’ My laboured – and truthful – explanation that I had voted for his father cut no ice.


Losing my bid for the SRC presidency left me feeling – at the ripe age of 23 – utterly defeated and deeply bereft. The consolation prize of being elected SRC vice president seemed small – and flat beer indeed. But then I received a note from one of my international relations lecturers, Peter Vale, which said: ‘Just remember – the disappointment of failure is always much greater than the pleasure of success.’ This proved a useful star to steer by, both in the small stakes of student politics, and in the somewhat larger arena of national politics where I was to spend most of my adult life.


I will not say appropriately, but at the time, and again reading off the course, I looked into Richard Nixon’s memoirs. Perhaps I had a macabre fascination with someone whose prodigious talent and political drive was outweighed by flaws – which became fissures in his presidency – of truly Shakespearean proportions. Anyway, I reckoned – faults and all – Nixon knew how to come back from defeat. What arrested my attention was his citation of a speech by another former American president, Theodore Roosevelt, in an address to the students of the Sorbonne in the early 20th century. It read in part:


‘It is not the critic who counts; not the man who points out how the strong man stumbles, or where the doer of deeds could have done them better; the credit belongs to the man who is actually in the arena, whose face is marred by dust and sweat and blood; who strives valiantly; who errs, and comes short again and again because there is not effort without error and shortcoming; but who does actually strive to do the deeds … who spends himself in a worthy cause, who at the best knows in the end the triumphs of high achievement and who at the worst, if he fails, at least fails while daring greatly, so that his place shall never be with those cold and timid souls who know neither victory nor defeat …’


I laboriously copied this out in 1979. I keep it as a reminder and guide.


Despite the competitive – and often vindictive – nature of my political nursery, I forged some significant friendships on the SRC, apart from my co-conspirator Rallis. Gilbert Marcus, today a leading senior legal counsel, was even when much younger a sage presence on the council, and he and his girlfriend (now wife) Jenny and I became close friends. And there was romance – especially since my partner at the time avowedly did not believe in the radical feminism that some of the Nusas clique of women espoused, that ‘penetration was inherently degrading to females’.


Another strong memory of the SRC is of Mike Roussos, a melange of Catholicism and socialism, living in extreme penury in a murky commune in Berea. He was unusual for a man of the Left – an engineer, in an overwhelmingly conservative faculty – and had a lively sense of humour. He was severely maltreated, after graduation, by the security branch, as his involvement in the burgeoning trade union movement intensified.


I truly expected him to see his commitment through – not to emigrate like so many hardliners who prophesied an African future only to decamp when that possibility became real. And indeed, Roussos stayed, emerging after 1994 as a key functionary in the Gauteng provincial administration, after having held key positions in the private sector. I never even contemplated that he might be remotely materialistic – he seemed utterly incorruptible. With amazement I read in 2004 that he was facing corruption charges at Johannesburg’s specialised commercial court (the charges have not, to date, been processed). Whatever the validity of those charges, it was clear, simply from the quantum involved and the opulence of lifestyle sketched, that he had shed his university asceticism. So it sometimes goes.


Two of my most enduring friendships originated in the unlikely environment of the All Sports Council, where as an emissary from the SRC I was initially treated with much hostility by the campus sportsmen, who had a profound detestation of student politics. Once they grasped that I was not a Nusas spy sent to undermine their activities, the atmosphere improved considerably. There I met Clifford Garrun and David Greenstein – from the Wits rugby club – who became my closest friends on campus. We studied law together; went ‘jolling around’; and remain close to this day. David emigrated to Australia after marrying (as did many friends and contemporaries in the 1980s); but Clifford stayed and prospered in his family insurance business. Our friendship lit a political spark in him, and he went on to become a Johannesburg city councillor in 1988.


The foremost event arising out of the SRC-All Sports Council collaboration was the rugby intervarsity between Wits and RAU (Randse Afrikaanse Universiteit). It was played at the Wanderers stadium since Ellis Park was being refurbished. Suffice to say, there were Anglo-Boer War connotations. However, most Wits students present saw the match as an occasion – or excuse – for unbridled exuberance, helped along by copious quantities of Klipdrift brandy and other student-favoured libations.
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